From the DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL NEUROSCIENCE Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

COGNITIVE BEHAVIOR THERAPY IN THE TREATMENT OF IRRITABLE BOWEL SYNDROME

Brjánn Ljótsson



All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher.
Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by Larserics Digital Print AB.
© Brjánn Ljótsson, 2011
ISBN 978-91-7457-337-4

ABSTRACT

Background: Irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) is a disorder characterized by abdominal pain or discomfort combined with altered bowel habits and is associated with impaired quality of life. The prevalence of IBS in the general adult population is approximately 10%. Psychological factors have been implicated in IBS because of high rates of comorbidity with psychiatric diagnoses and the fact that stress can cause IBS symptoms. Several studies have been conducted on psychological treatment for IBS. Most of these have studied cognitive behavior therapy (CBT) but show inconsistent results. Although symptom-related fear and avoidance behaviors have been found to play an important role in IBS, no psychological treatment has targeted these factors primarily. The "third wave" of cognitive behavioral therapies promotes acceptance and behavioral flexibility in the presence of aversive experiences, such as IBS symptoms. Exposure treatment is a behavioral intervention aimed at decreasing fear of arbitrary stimuli. Given the high prevalence of IBS, there is need for delivery formats that allow more patients to gain access to treatment. Internet-delivered cognitive behavior therapy with online therapist support has shown effectiveness in treating both psychiatric disorders and disorders within the behavioral medicine field.

Aims: The general aim of the present thesis was to develop and evaluate an effective psychological treatment for IBS that can be made accessible to a large number of IBS patients. We developed an exposure-based CBT treatment that emphasized acceptance and behavioral flexibility in response to IBS-related experiences. Specific aims of this thesis were to: a) evaluate exposure-based CBT as a group treatment for IBS (study I), b) evaluate exposure-based CBT delivered via the internet (ICBT) for IBS (study II), c) evaluate the long-term effectiveness of ICBT for IBS (study III), d) evaluate the effectiveness and clinical utility of ICBT for IBS (study IV), and e) evaluate the specificity of ICBT for IBS (study V).

Methods: Study I included 34 referred female IBS patients who underwent exposure-based CBT in group format. Study II randomized 85 self-referred IBS patients to ICBT or waiting list. Study III was a long-term follow-up of study II, 75 of the original study's 85 participants (88%) participated in the 15- to 18-month follow-up. Study IV randomized 62 consecutively recruited patients at a gastroenterological clinic to ICBT or waiting list. Study V randomized 195 self-referred IBS patients to ICBT or internet-delivered stress management. The stress-management condition was designed to control for effects of treatment credibility, expectancy of improvement, and attention from a caregiver. The treatment conditions in all studies lasted for 10 weeks.

Results: In all studies exposure-based CBT was associated with improvements in IBS symptoms, IBS-related fear, and quality of life. In studies II and IV, ICBT was more effective than a waiting list and in study V, ICBT was more effective

than internet-delivered stress management. Study I also showed that exposure-based CBT leads to improvement in mental health.

Conclusions: Exposure-based CBT is effective both in group format and when delivered via internet. Both self-referred and clinical samples of IBS patients improve from the treatment. The effects of exposure-based CBT cannot be explained by non-specific factors such as treatment credibility, expectancy of improvement, and attention from a caregiver. ICBT is a promising new treatment modality that can be made accessible to a large number of IBS patients.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- I. Ljótsson B, Andréewitch S, Hedman E, Rück C, Andersson G, Lindefors N. Exposure and mindfulness based therapy for irritable bowel syndrome An open pilot study. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry. 2010;41:185-90.
- II. Ljótsson B, Falk L, Wibron Vesterlund A, Hedman E, Lindfors P, Rück C, Hursti T, Andréewitch S, Jansson L, Lindefors N, Andersson G. Internet-delivered exposure and mindfulness based therapy for irritable bowel syndrome a randomized controlled trial. Behav Res Ther. 2010;48: 531-9.
- III. Ljótsson B, Hedman E, Lindfors P, Hursti T, Lindefors N, Andersson G, Rück C. Long-term follow up of internet-delivered exposure and mindfulness based treatment for irritable bowel syndrome. Behav Res Ther. 2011;49:58-61.
- IV. Ljótsson B, Andersson G, Hedman E, Lindfors P, Andréewitch S, Rück C, Lindefors N. Delivering internet-based exposure treatment for irritable bowel syndrome in a clinical setting: a randomized controlled trial. Submitted.
- V. Ljótsson B, Hedman E, Andersson E, Hesser H, Lindfors P, Hursti T, Rydh S, Rück C, Lindefors N, Andersson G. Internet-delivered exposure-based treatment vs. stress management for irritable bowel syndrome: a randomized trial. Am J Gastroenterol. E-published ahead of print.

CONTENTS

1. Intr	oduction	1
Backgro	und	3
1.1 l	Epidemiology of IBS	3
1.1.	1 Diagnosis	3
1.1.	2 Prevalence	4
1.1.	3 Natural course and quality of life	4
1.1.	4 Societal costs	5
1.2 l	Dietary and pharmacological treatments	5
1.3 l	Biological processes associated with symptoms	6
1.3.	1 Gastrointestinal motility	6
1.3.	2 Hypersensitivity	7
1.4	Гhe role of stress	8
1.4.	1 Psychiatric factors	8
1.4.	2 Symptom-related fear and avoidance behaviors	9
1.5 l	Psychological treatments	11
1.5.	1 Psychodynamic therapy	11
1.5.	2 Hypnotherapy	11
1.5.	3 Cognitive behavioral therapies	11
1.5.	4 Minimal contact CBT treatments	14
1.5.	5 Summary of psychological treatments	14
1.6	Outlining a new treatment approach	15
1.6.	1 Experiential avoidance	15
1.6.	2 Mindfulness and acceptance	16
1.6.	3 Exposure treatment	18
1.6.	4 Internet-delivered cognitive behavior therapy	18
1.6.	5 Synthesis	20
2. Aim	s of the thesis	21
2.1	Study I	21
2.2	Study II	21
2.3	Study III	21
2.4	Study IV	21
2.5	Study V	22

3.	The e	mpirical studies	23
	3.1 M	easures	23
	3.1.1	Measures of IBS symptoms	23
	3.1.2	Measures of IBS-related impairment	23
	3.1.3	Measures of general distress	25
	3.1.4	Measures of treatment process variables	26
	3.2 Ex	xposure-based cognitive behavior therapy	26
	3.3 In	ternet-delivered CBT	28
	3.4 St	udy I	28
	3.4.1	Participants	28
	3.4.2	Intervention	28
	3.4.3	Assessments	29
	3.4.4	Analysis	30
	3.4.5	Results	30
	3.4.6	Methodological considerations	30
	3.5 St	udy II	31
	3.5.1	Participants	31
	3.5.2	Interventions	31
	3.5.3	Assessments	31
	3.5.4	Analysis	31
	3.5.5	Results	32
	3.5.6	Methodological considerations	32
	3.6 St	udy III	32
	3.6.1	Participants	32
	3.6.2	Assessments	33
	3.6.3	Analysis	33
	3.6.4	Results	33
	3.6.5	Methodological considerations	33
	3.7 St	udy IV	34
	3.7.1	Participants	34
	3.7.2	Interventions	34
	3.7.3	Assessments	34
	3.7.4	Analysis	34
	3.7.5	Results	35

3.7.6	Methodological considerations	35
3.8 Stu	dy V	35
3.8.1	Participants	35
3.8.2	Interventions	35
3.8.3	Assessments	36
3.8.4	Analysis	36
3.8.5	Results	37
3.8.6	Methodological considerations	37
	nmary of the studies	
4. Genera	l discussion	41
4.1 Inte	erpretation of results	41
4.2 Con	ntextualizing	43
4.3 Lim	nitations	46
	sions	
6. Acknow	wledgements	49
7. Referei	nces	53

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACC Anterior cingulate cortex

ACT Acceptance and commitment therapy

CBT Cognitive behavior therapy

CGI Clinical global impression scale

CPSR Relative change score of the GI symptom diary

CSFBD Cognitive scale for functional bowel disorders

DBT Dialectic behavior therapy

GI Gastrointestinal

GSRS-IBS Gastrointestinal symptom rating scale – IBS version

IBS Irritable bowel syndrome

IBS-QOL Irritable bowel syndrome quality of life instrument

ICBT Internet-delivered cognitive behavior therapy

ISM Internet-delivered stress management

MADRS-S Montgomery Åsberg depression rating scale – self report

MINI Mini-international neuropsychiatric interview

PSS Perceived stress scale

VSI Visceral sensitivity index

1. Introduction

Irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) is a highly prevalent disorder that is associated with individual suffering and societal costs. Many psychological treatments have been developed for IBS and show mixed results. Despite a clear role of symptom-related stress in symptom exacerbation and presence of excessive symptom controlling and avoidance behaviors in IBS, most psychological treatments do not primarily target these factors. There is also a lack of availability of these treatments, meaning that most IBS patients cannot gain access to an effective treatment.

I began my work on this thesis in the summer of 2005. My aim was to participate in the development and evaluation of a new psychological treatment for IBS that could be made available for a large number of IBS patients. I had just finished my studies at the psychology program and my training in cognitive behavior therapy (CBT) had been influenced by acceptance and commitment therapy. The emphasis of my clinical training had been on helping clients to remain in contact with negative experiences while engaging in behaviors that purposefully moved them in their valued life direction. When meeting patients with IBS, I observed that most of them did not want to experience IBS symptoms and the negative emotions that were associated with these symptoms. They therefore engaged in behaviors that served to avoid symptoms and symptom-related experiences. This behavioral pattern did certainly not help them to live a rich and full life.

I wanted see if a treatment based on accepting IBS symptoms and the emotions and thoughts that were associated with IBS could help these patients. I also saw a clear need for these patients to willingly expose themselves to these symptoms, emotions, and thoughts to relieve the fear and anxiety they had come to associate with them. This constituted the foundation for exposure-based CBT with emphasis on acceptance of IBS symptoms and related experiences.

My supervisors and our research group were then, and still are, involved the development of the "Swedish model" of internet-delivered cognitive behavior therapy (ICBT). I had also written my master's thesis about ICBT for bulimia nervosa and binge eating disorder. Delivering the exposure-based CBT for IBS over the internet would mean that a lot more patients could be treated. For this purpose, I programmed a web platform that could be used to deliver ICBT. That platform has since then been used in numerous studies and in the world's first psychiatric ICBT clinic.

This thesis describes my, my colleagues', and my supervisors' work to develop and evaluate a new treatment protocol and new treatment format for IBS.

Stockholm, Linköping, Spannarboda, January-April 2011.

BACKGROUND

1.1 EPIDEMIOLOGY OF IBS

1.1.1 DIAGNOSIS

Irritable bowel syndrome is the presence of recurring symptoms in the lower gastrointestinal (GI) tract, primarily abdominal pain or discomfort, constipation, and/or diarrhea, which cannot be explained by any structural lesions (1, 2). There are potential serious illnesses that can present with these symptoms, most commonly inflammatory bowel disease (Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis) and colorectal cancer (2). Based on this definition, it could be said that IBS is a diagnosis of exclusion, i.e. it can only be made if other explanations for the symptoms have been ruled out. However, using absence of organic illnesses as a primary diagnostic criterion has proven to lead to extensive medical examinations and tests in order to rule them out as causes of the symptoms (1, 3). Most often the findings are negative and the patient ends up with an IBS diagnosis (4, 5). Therefore, several efforts have been made to develop criteria that can be used to establish a positive diagnosis of IBS and avoid unnecessary testing and examinations.

In 1978, Manning et al. published the first set of diagnostic criteria that were based on their ability to distinguish IBS from inflammatory bowel disease (1). The Manning criteria included abdominal pain relieved by defecation, looser and/or more frequent stools with onset of pain, abdominal distension, passage of mucus in stools, and sense of incomplete evacuation. In 1984, Kruis et al. created a set of criteria that also included "alarm symptoms", such as blood in stool and weight loss, that could be indicative of organic illness (6). However, because of a complicated scoring system these criteria were never widely used (7). Besides being an aid in excluding organic illness, objective diagnostic criteria are also important within clinical research. In a review of treatment trials of IBS in 1988, Klein noted that "not a single IBS treatment trial reported to date has used an adequate operational definition of IBS" (8 p. 233). To meet the need for reliable diagnostic criteria that could also be used in research, the Rome committee was established in the late 1980s (9). In the following years several renditions of diagnostic criteria for IBS were published: the Rome I (1992; 10), Rome II (1999; 11), and Rome III (2006; 12). The latest version, the Rome III criteria, are shown in Box 1. The Rome criteria introduced pain or discomfort as mandatory symptoms in IBS together with symptom chronicity and minimal thresholds for symptom frequency. Common symptoms such as bloating and feeling of incomplete evacuation support the diagnosis but are not part of the Rome III criteria. There are also Rome criteria for classifying IBS subgroups according to symptom predominance, namely IBS with constipation, IBS with diarrhea, mixed IBS, and unsubtyped IBS (12).

Box 1. Rome III diagnostic criteria for IBS.

Recurrent abdominal pain or discomfort* at least 3 days per month in the last 3 months associated with 2 or more of the following:

- 1. Improvement with defecation
- 2. Onset associated with a change in frequency of stool
- 3. Onset associated with a change in form (appearance) of stool

Criteria fulfilled for the last 3 months with symptom onset at least 6 months prior to diagnosis.

*Discomfort means an uncomfortable sensation not described as pain.

Supportive symptoms that are not part of the diagnostic criteria include:

- Abnormal stool frequency: ≤ 3 bowel movements per week or > 3 bowel movements per day)
- Abnormal stool form: lumpy/hard stool or loose/watery stool
- Defecation straining
- Urgency
- · Feeling of incomplete bowel movement
- Passing of mucus
- Bloating

1.1.2 PREVALENCE

The prevalence estimates of IBS vary considerably between epidemiological studies. Using Rome I and II criteria, Bommelaer et al. (13) estimated the prevalence of IBS to be 1-2% while Ólafsdóttir et al. (14) estimated a prevalence of 32% using Manning criteria. This variation is judged to be a reflection of the different definitions of IBS, where Manning criteria are more inclusive than Rome I-III criteria (15). In the Ólafsdóttir study, using Rome II and III criteria on the same population of 799 adult Icelanders, gave estimates of 5% and 13%, respectively (14). Hahn et al. published data from a large US health survey with 42,392 respondents, which showed that about 3.5% of the respondents identified themselves as having IBS. Of these, about 50% fulfilled neither Rome I nor Manning criteria (16). The "true" prevalence of IBS is therefore difficult to determine, but comprehensive reviews have concluded that IBS affects about 10% of the adult population (15, 17). The prevalence of IBS among females compared to males has been found to be about twice as large (18) and IBS seems to be most common in the ages between 20 and 40 (19).

1.1.3 NATURAL COURSE AND QUALITY OF LIFE

IBS is considered to be a chronic disorder (17). In two population studies that investigated the 10-year natural history of IBS, 67% (20) and 43%-61% (14) of patients who had been diagnosed with IBS retained their diagnosis after 10 years. In a Swedish population study, 55% of IBS patients retained their diagnosis after 7 years, but notably only 13% were symptom-free while 21% reported minor GI symptoms and 11% were diagnosed with functional dyspepsia or reflux disease (21). In a 12-year follow-up study, 30% of IBS

patients were symptom-free at follow-up while 25% were diagnosed with another functional GI disorder (22). Although IBS is chronic for a majority of patients it has not been associated with long-term (over 20 years) increased mortality (23) or susceptibility to organic illness (24).

Much research has investigated the impact of IBS on quality of life. Within this context, the specific term is health-related quality of life, which covers the physical, psychological, and social domains of health (25). In a review it was concluded that IBS patients have impaired health-related quality of life in all three domains compared to normal controls and that symptom severity is negatively correlated with health-related quality of life (26).

1.1.4 SOCIETAL COSTS

IBS is also associated with productivity loss and health care expenditure. Compared with normal controls, IBS patients have nearly tripled work or school absenteeism (18). IBS patients also report that 20% of their work time is non-productive while their colleagues without IBS report that 6% of their work time is non-productive (27). In a large survey, Talley et al. used self-report questionnaires based on Manning criteria to diagnose IBS and found that IBS patients utilized health care at almost double the cost compared to persons without IBS (28). In a survey that diagnosed IBS using the less inclusive Rome criteria, Longstreth et al. estimated the increase in health care costs associated with IBS to be 51% (29). The severity of symptoms was also positively correlated with an increase in health care costs. In 2007, the mean annual direct health care costs in the US were estimated at \$5,049 per treatment seeking IBS patient (30). Given the high prevalence of IBS, estimated at 10%, this leads to large costs for society. In Finland, IBS has been estimated to account for up to 5% of the national outpatient and pharmacological expenditures (31).

1.2 DIETARY AND PHARMACOLOGICAL TREATMENTS

The American College of Gastroenterology published a review of pharmacological and dietary treatments for IBS in 2009 (32). The use of dietary adjustments, dietary fiber, bulking agents, laxatives, antispasmodic agents, antidiarrheals, or probiotics, was considered to have weak scientific support and questionable beneficial effects. 5HT3 receptor antagonists (alosetron), 5HT4 receptor agonists (tegaserod), selective C-2 chloride channel activators (lubiprostone), and antidepressant (tricyclics and selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors) had moderate to good quality of evidence of beneficial effects. Alosetron targets diarrhea while tegaserod and lubiprostone target constipation, and all three drugs have primarily shown effect on female IBS patients. However, alosetron and tegaserod have been withdrawn from the US market because of adverse side effects. Alosetron has since then been reintroduced in the US under restricted use for females with severe diarrhea. Antidepressants have been shown to relieve global IBS symptoms and abdominal pain. Antibiotics have also

been studied and show global improvement of IBS with moderate quality of evidence (32).

Hence, there are a few pharmacological therapies that have moderate to strong support for a beneficial effect in IBS. However, there seem to be no studies that show long-term beneficial effects after pharmacological treatment. The longest follow up-periods that have been noted in the literature are up to four weeks (33-39). During follow-up periods, the effects of tegaserod (37) and alosetron (33-36) quickly subside while the effects of fluoxetine (38) and lubiprostone (39) seem to be sustained. However, a four-week follow-up period is not enough to draw any conclusions about long-term effects of fluoxetine or lubiprostone. One exception is the antibiotic rifaximin. In one study about 32% of patients in the rifaximin group reported adequate relief of global IBS symptoms compared to about 25% in the placebo group three months after treatment (40). Notably, the proportion of patients in the rifaximin group reporting adequate relief at post-treatment was almost 50%.

In summary, it seems that most pharmacological treatments with adequate scientific evidence for effect in IBS need to be used continuously for effect. With the exception of rifaximin, these treatments have side effects, leading to the withdrawal of tegaserod and alosetron (32). However, rifaximin is not available for prescription for IBS yet and seems to have a declining effect over time (40).

1.3 BIOLOGICAL PROCESSES ASSOCIATED WITH SYMPTOMS

1.3.1 GASTROINTESTINAL MOTILITY

Since IBS patients display altered bowel habits, much research has been devoted to find disturbances in the gut motility. Many findings indicate altered function along the GI tract in IBS patients. In the upper GI tract and small bowel, these include contractions in the esophagus, delayed gastric emptying, longer/shorter migrating motor complex intervals in the small bowel in constipation/diarrhea predominant patients, and delayed/accelerated small bowel transit in constipation/diarrhea predominant patients (41). However, none of these findings have been consistent between IBS patients or studies (41). In the large bowel the most consistent finding is a prolonged and increased motor activity after ingestion of nutrition (41).

The gut motility has also been found to be reactive to change in emotional state. In a series of multiple case studies during the 1940s, Almy et al. used different methods to induce emotional distress in subjects with and without functional bowel disturbances and observed changes in colonic motility. In the first study (42), seven healthy males were subjected to induction of headache by compression of the head. After a while all subjects showed signs of stress, such as pallor, sweating, heightened blood pressure, or by verbal description. These responses were accompanied by heightened colonic motility and engorgement of the mucosa. In the second study (43), several methods of induction of stress

by physical threat were used in healthy subjects, including cold pain (submerging the hand in ice water), headache, and induced hypoglycemia. This study also included verbal induction of stress. Individual life situations that were associated with emotional distress, e.g. one subject's failure to discipline his rebellious son, were discussed with the subjects. One subject was also deceived to believe that signs of cancer had been found during examination of the colon. In almost all cases where the subjects responded with stress reactions to the physical or verbal stimuli, increases in colonic motility were observed. The last two studies included subjects with functional constipation (44) and IBS with diarrhea, constipation, or alternating predominance (45). Again, when stressful stimuli were presented and subjects reacted with stress, increased motility was observed. The researchers noted that the changes in motility related to stress in the subjects with functional constipation were quantitatively similar to the changes previously observed in healthy individuals (44).

Later studies have confirmed the impact of stress on the GI system, including decreased mouth to cecum transit time (46), increased colonic motility (47, 48), delayed gastric emptying (49, 50), and alteration in duodenal motility (49).

1.3.2 HYPERSENSITIVITY

While disturbed motility patterns may explain the altered bowel habits in IBS, they do not explain the pain experienced by IBS patients. Visceral hypersensitivity, i.e. lowered discomfort threshold to visceral stimulation, is currently considered one of the most important factors in IBS and has been extensively studied. Increased sensitivity to stimulation has primarily been observed in the colon but also in the esophagus, stomach, and small intestine (41). Similarly to the findings regarding gut motility, hypersensitivity has been found to increase in response to stress. In one study, stress induced by listening to conflicting types of music (folk music in one ear and rock and roll in the other) produced stronger unpleasantness and subjectively rated intensity of visceral stimulation in IBS patients than in controls (51). In another study, both physical stress (hand in ice water) and psychological stress (conflicting music) produced decreased perceptual and pain thresholds for visceral stimulation in IBS patients but not in controls (52). In several studies, hypersensitivity has also been found to increase after intake of nutrition (41).

Bloating, a symptom experienced by a majority of IBS patients (53), has also been associated with hypersensitivity. Bloating has not been linked to increased volumes of abdominal gas (54) but there is much evidence for a delayed gas transit time associated with bloating (55). However, delayed transit time seems to be more correlated with measurable abdominal distension than with the bloating sensation (56-58). In one study, only 50% of IBS patients who reported bloating showed abdominal distension (59). Patients who experience bloating without distension have been shown to have increased hypersensitivity compared to patients who experience both symptoms (60). Furthermore, in a

study of pharmacological treatment that targeted gas production, decrease in bloating was only seen in patients without hypersensitivity (61).

1.4 THE ROLE OF STRESS

Although several studies suggest an organic dysfunction in IBS, such as delayed transit of nutrition and gas, there is convincing evidence for stress as a cause of IBS symptomatology. Here, stress is defined as "an acute threat to the homeostasis of an organism, real (physical) or perceived (psychological) and posed by events in the outside world or from within, [which] evokes adaptive responses that serve to defend the stability of the internal environment and to ensure the survival of the organism" (62 p. G519). Stress has been shown to affect both motility and hypersensitivity, presumably causing altered bowel habits and sensations of pain and bloating. Indeed, IBS is often referred to as a "stress-related disorder", but from where does this stress emanate? A number of studies (63-67) have investigated the impact of daily stressors on IBS symptoms. While some studies point toward a causative effect of daily stressors on IBS symptoms the most consistent finding is a reciprocal relationship (67). Thus, the primary source of symptom-causing stress is probably related to daily stressors only to a limited extent. Below, the evidence for psychiatric factors and symptom-related fear as potential sources of stress is reviewed.

1.4.1 PSYCHIATRIC FACTORS

Population-based studies have investigated the prevalence of psychiatric disorders in IBS patients compared to normal controls. All studies reviewed here used random sampling except one that compared all IBS patients within a health maintenance organization to matched controls (68). In these studies, the prevalence of the following disorders was larger among IBS patients than normal controls: generalized anxiety disorder (68, 69), depression, (68, 70, 71), panic disorder (19), panic attacks (68), somatization disorder (68, 71), obsessive compulsive disorder (71), stress reaction (68), impaired mental health (72), life time anxiety or mood disorders (73), and any psychiatric disorder (74). The highest population prevalences of psychiatric disorders in IBS were found for lifetime anxiety or mood disorders (50%; 73), depression (30%; 68), stress reaction (17%; 68), and generalized anxiety disorder (16%; 69).

The prevalence of IBS has also been investigated among patients diagnosed with a psychiatric disorder. In a recent study including 357 psychiatric patients, higher frequencies than population prevalence of IBS were found in patients with generalized anxiety disorder (26%), panic disorder (22%), and depression (25%) (75). Another study examined the prevalence of IBS in patients diagnosed with obsessive-compulsive disorder and found that 35% of patients fulfilled IBS diagnostic criteria compared to 3% of matched controls (76). A review of studies published before 2003 reported increased prevalence of IBS in patients with depression (27-29%), panic disorder (17%-46%), and generalized anxiety disorder (37%) (76).

IBS patients have also been found to have an increased need for social approval (77), a more submissive interpersonal style (78), and feelings of interpersonal inferiority (79) compared to healthy controls. In IBS patients a cognitive style of negative thinking predicts more suffering related to IBS symptoms (80) and general worry and anxiety is positively correlated with pain severity (81). High levels of neuroticism have also been found to be predictive of an IBS diagnosis (82).

1.4.2 Symptom-related fear and avoidance behaviors

Pertaining to the previous definition of stress, symptom-related fear is the process where a symptom or symptom-related stimuli is perceived as an acute threat to the homeostasis. In 2001, Mayer et al. suggested that conditioned fear of symptom-related stimuli could be an important characteristic of IBS (83). It was hypothesized that most IBS patients have had negative experiences of symptoms, such as intense abdominal pain or nearly losing control of their bowel, that have been preceded by neutral stimuli. These neutral stimuli could be visceral sensations, e.g. fullness or urgency, and contexts in which these sensations could occur, e.g. time of day or after food intake (83).

An association between symptom-related stimuli and fear in IBS has interesting implications, since both unconditioned (84) and conditioned (85) fearful stimuli draw our attention. Conditioned fear of symptom-related stimuli should therefore increase IBS patients' focus on these stimuli. Several studies have confirmed this. IBS patients show increased attention to pain words compared to normal controls and level of attention is positively correlated with somatic complaints (86). Moreover, IBS patients remember (87) and recognize (88) words describing GI sensations better than controls, and they are more attentive to subliminally presented words that describe GI sensations (89). IBS patients also report that they are more vigilant towards bodily symptoms than controls (90). Catastrophic thinking about pain is also linked to more severe pain in IBS patients (91, 92).

Mayer et al. further suggested that the hypersensitivity towards visceral sensations, such as pain and bloating, may be a function of this conditioned fear (83). The close association between hypersensitivity and fear of IBS sensations has been confirmed in brain imaging studies. During painful rectal stimulation, IBS patients show increased activity in, among other regions, the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC; 93, 94). The ACC has been suggested to play a part in the affective dimension, e.g. fear, of pain (95). In two studies, decrease in pain has also been associated with decrease in ACC activity. Naliboff et al. used repeated exposure to decrease rectal sensitivity in IBS patients and observed lower activity in the ACC while activity in the brain regions that process visceral input did not change (96). Lackner et al. reported that, following cognitive therapy, IBS patients showed decreased global pain and decreased activity in the ACC, among other regions (97). The elevation of hypersensitivity during stress confirms the

association with symptom-related fear, since stress has been found to increase the orientation towards threat stimuli (98). Together, these observations suggest that hypersensitivity is closely linked to, and may even be a function of, a negative emotional valence of visceral sensations.

This constitutes a solid foundation for positive feedback loops between stress and IBS symptoms. The association between fear and GI sensations leads to a decreased threshold for detecting these sensations. Detection of GI sensations will in turn induce stress, because of the same fear association, which will lead to further vigilance towards sensations, such as pain and bloating, and also alter motility, causing constipation or diarrhea. These symptoms further increase the stress and consequently also the IBS symptoms. Situations that are symptom-related will also be sources of stress, such as eating or being far away from a restroom. The increased motility and hypersensitivity induced by intake of nutrition and the general experience of IBS patients that symptoms get worse after eating (99) may even be a stress response to a conditioned fear of food.

A natural response to stimuli that evoke fear is to avoid them. However, long-term avoidance of the multitude of stimuli that could potentially be related to GI symptoms may actually be a key maintaining factor in IBS. By avoiding these stimuli, IBS patients cannot gain new experiences that reduce the fear of the symptoms and associated stimuli, e.g. being able to function despite having symptoms, maintaining control over bowels despite urgency, or experiencing milder symptoms than expected after ingestion of certain foods. Furthermore, avoiding social or work-related situations when experiencing symptoms can cause social isolation and disability. This increases general stress and reduces quality of life, thereby strengthening the negative valence of symptoms.

Several studies have confirmed the importance of symptom-related fear and associated behaviors in IBS. In a university sample, fear of IBS symptoms and fear-related behaviors have been found to be significantly more associated with IBS diagnosis than general worry, anxiety sensitivity, or neuroticism (100). An IBS diagnosis has also been associated with a desire to avoid bodily sensations (90). The level of symptom avoidance and symptom controlling behaviors is also related to severity of IBS symptoms and negative evaluation of IBS symptoms (101). Impaired physical functioning and dysfunctional eating together with number of days in bed and phone calls to the physician because of GI symptoms also predict IBS symptom severity (102). Labus et al. developed the visceral sensitivity index (VSI), aimed at measuring "gastrointestinal symptom-specific anxiety" (103). GI symptom-specific anxiety is a concept that involves the cognitive, affective, attentional, and behavioral dimensions relating to fear of IBS symptom and associated situations. In a validation study of the VSI in an undergraduate sample it was found to discriminate between students without IBS (lowest score), students with IBS who had not sought health care for their symptoms (intermediate score), and students with IBS symptoms who had

sought help for their symptoms (highest score). The VSI was also the only measure that predicted presence of an IBS diagnosis compared to measures of anxiety sensitivity, anxiety, depression, and neuroticism (104). In a sample of IBS patients, the VSI was found to be the strongest predictor of GI symptom severity, compared to presence of other functional GI disorders, anxiety, depression, and gender and was also negatively correlated with quality of life (105).

1.5 PSYCHOLOGICAL TREATMENTS

Several psychological treatments targeting different sources of stress in IBS have been developed and evaluated. Below, studies investigating the effects of the major approaches are summarized. These approaches include psychodynamic therapy, hypnotherapy, cognitive behavioral therapies, and minimal contact cognitive behavioral therapies.

1.5.1 PSYCHODYNAMIC THERAPY

The first randomized controlled trial of a psychological treatment for IBS, published in 1983, was conducted in Sweden and evaluated the effects of short-term (10 sessions) psychodynamic therapy for IBS (106). The treatment focused on coping with stress and emotional problems. In accordance with a psychodynamic theory of psychosomatic disorders (107), the therapy was mainly supportive and was not focused on unconscious processes or other psychoanalytical concepts. A psychodynamically informed therapy has subsequently been evaluated in two additional studies (108, 109). These treatments were focused on emotional problems of the study participants, primarily relationship problems.

The outcomes in these three studies of psychodynamic therapy were positive with improvements both on both psychological measures and in IBS symptoms, with the exception of the last study that did not show long-term effects on pain compared to routine care (109).

1.5.2 HYPNOTHERAPY

Hypnotherapy for IBS is aimed at gaining increased control over the gut and also includes ego-strengthening and confidence-building interventions (110). Several studies have evaluated hypnotherapy for IBS and in a recent review it was concluded that 60%-70% of IBS patients gain substantial symptom improvement from hypnotherapy (111). After hypnotherapy, IBS patients have shown reductions in negative thoughts about their gut function (112) and a reduced sensory and motor response after intake of nutrition (113). These results point towards a reduction of fear of GI symptoms as a result of hypnotherapy.

1.5.3 COGNITIVE BEHAVIORAL THERAPIES

Within the cognitive behavioral field there have been many different approaches to treating IBS. In 1987, Blanchard's group published their first studies

investigating the effects of a multicomponent treatment, including relaxation training, thermal biofeedback, and training in stress-coping strategies on IBS (114, 115). In these studies about 60% of the patients showed clinically significant improvement and these improvements were maintained over a 2-and 4-year period (116, 117). The same group also performed a small study with only 5 IBS patients, investigating bowel sound biofeedback with a 60% response rate (118). Later studies showed beneficial effects of relaxation training (119) and relaxation meditation (120) on IBS with 50%-60% response rates. However, in 1992 the Blanchard group published a study comparing the multicomponent treatment with an attention control condition and did not find any significant differences in treatment effect (121).

In 1994, the Blanchard group published a study that only included cognitive interventions and the treatment was labeled cognitive therapy (122). The rationale for focusing on distorted and maladaptive cognitions was the large prevalence of anxiety and mood disorders in IBS. These psychological problems, primarily anxiety, were hypothesized to underlie the IBS symptoms. A treatment that successfully targeted these psychological problems should therefore also relieve the IBS symptoms (122). The treatment was evaluated in two further studies and showed superiority to an attention control condition (123) and similarity in effectiveness whether administered individually or in group (124). In these studies, 55%-80% of the patients showed a clinically significant improvement after cognitive therapy. However, the studies were small, including only 10-11 patients in the treatment conditions. In 2007, the largest trial by the Blanchard group was published, including 210 IBS patients (125). The study compared group cognitive therapy (n=120) with attention control (n=46) and symptom monitoring (n=44), with discouraging results. The group cognitive therapy was not superior to the attention control in terms of symptom reduction and treatment effects were considerably lower than in the previous studies.

Toner et al. published a study of group CBT for IBS in 1998 (126). The authors argued that previous studies of cognitive behavioral therapies for IBS had not been based on models specific for IBS but rather on general models of psychopathology relating mainly to anxiety and depression. In contrast, their treatment was based on a model developed by Sharpe et al. (127), which stresses the way the IBS patients think about their symptoms. Patients who are convinced that their symptoms are signs of serious illness become more aware of their symptoms, entering into a vicious circle. These thoughts cause dysfunctional behaviors such as excessive treatment seeking or avoidance of symptom provoking activities. These behaviors make it harder for the patient to identify what situations actually contribute to the stress that creates the symptoms. Besides targeting these mechanisms, the treatment also included pain management techniques like distraction and relaxation. Other themes, deemed to be important in IBS (128), included lack of assertiveness, need for

social approval, shame over symptoms, perfectionism, and lack of self-efficacy. Although this treatment was designed specifically for IBS, it failed to show superiority to an attention control condition (126). In 2003, Drossman et al. published a large-scale study that compared the same treatment in individual format (n=144) with education (n=71) (129). This study also failed to show that the treatment was more effective than an attention control in reducing IBS symptoms.

Boyce et al. published a pilot study of a CBT including relaxation training, breathing training, cognitive restructuring, assertiveness training, and problem solving (130). This seems to be the first study that also explicitly stated that exposure exercises were used. These were aimed at reducing negative thoughts and fear associated with IBS symptoms, by graded exposure to feared situations and behavioral testing of negative predictions about the impact of IBS symptoms. A dysfunctional cognitive style was hypothesized to underlie this catastrophic interpretation of IBS symptoms and the comorbid psychiatric disorders. The pilot trial produced promising results. However, a later study from 2003 comparing the treatment (n=35) with relaxation training (n=35) and routine care (n=33) did not show any differential effects (131). The authors concluded that the effect of any psychological treatment was most likely the result of common factors such a trusting relationship and hope of improvement. The fact that the study had been underpowered was discarded by the authors using post-hoc reasoning.

Above, cognitive behavioral therapies that have been evaluated in at least two studies have been reviewed. There have been additional solitary studies investigating multicomponent CBT protocols, including e.g. relaxation training, cognitive restructuring, and problem solving (but not biofeedback). There are mixed results from these studies. Five studies have shown marked effects on IBS symptom (132-136), while two have failed to show substantial effects on symptoms compared to controls (137, 138) and in one patients experienced symptom relapse during study follow-up (139).

In a meta-analysis from 2004 on psychodynamic and cognitive behavioral therapies for IBS, Lackner et al. concluded that the pooled number needed to treat to gain one clinically significant improvement was 2 (140). However, the meta-analysis did not include the three studies that had failed to show superiority of cognitive therapy or multicomponent CBT to attention control (125, 129, 131). Ford et al. published a more recent meta-analysis and included the Boyce et al. (131) and Drossman et al. (129) studies. They found that the number needed to treat with CBT was 3 (141). But it was also concluded that if the three early studies of cognitive therapy that had been performed by the Blanchard group (122-124) were removed from the analysis, the beneficial effect of CBT on IBS symptoms disappeared. Notably, the study by Blanchard et

al. (125), which showed poor effect of the cognitive intervention, was not included in this meta-analysis either.

1.5.4 MINIMAL CONTACT CBT TREATMENTS

Despite the promising results in many trials during 30 years of research, psychological treatments have not become widely available for IBS patients (142). Efforts to develop more accessible treatments have been made, where the therapist time is minimized and patients are given self-help material that covers the content of treatment. Heitkemper et al. combined a multicomponent self-help book with one session led by a nurse but demonstrated small effects on symptoms (136). Robinson et al. used an informational self-help book and a series of focus group meetings, with little effect on IBS symptoms (143). Sanders et al. used a multicomponent self-help book, but did not include any therapeutic support and the study showed small effects on IBS symptoms (144).

Lackner et al. published a study in 2008 comparing two ways to administer CBT, which included cognitive restructuring and relaxation (145). Patients were randomized to a self-help treatment combined with 4 sessions of therapist contact, to a complete 10-session therapist administered treatment, or to a waiting list control. The study found similar and large improvements in IBS symptoms and quality of life in both treatment conditions compared to the waiting list. The authors concluded that although the idea of low intensity psychological treatments for IBS is appealing, a certain amount of qualified therapist contact is probably needed to achieve satisfactory treatment effects. Subsequently, two studies that used telephone contact to support the patients in working with self-help material were published. Jarret et al. compared usual care with two versions of a 9-session multicomponent treatment, one with 9 face-to-face sessions and one with 3 face-to-face sessions plus 6 telephone sessions (146). Patients in both treatment groups received the self-help book that had been used in the previous study by Heitkemper et al. (136). Both the face-to-face and telephone support groups showed similar and marked improvements in IBS symptoms compared to the usual care group. Moss-Morris et al. randomized IBS patients to a 7-week treatment consisting of a multicomponent self-help book and one face-to-face session plus two telephone sessions or a treatment as usual group (147). Six months after treatment, the treatment group showed large improvements in IBS symptoms compared to the treatment as usual group.

1.5.5 SUMMARY OF PSYCHOLOGICAL TREATMENTS

Several studies have evaluated the effects of different psychological approaches in treating IBS. The support for psychodynamic therapy and cognitive behavioral approaches is mixed, with some studies demonstrating small treatment effects on IBS symptoms. Hypnotherapy seems to be the treatment that most consistently produces positive results. However, although a pilot study suggests that hypnotherapy can be administered at home using pre-recorded CDs (148),

current protocols demand weekly sessions with a trained hypnotherapist. This highlights the large gap between supply and demand when it comes to psychological treatments for IBS. With a 10% prevalence of IBS, all patients in need cannot expect to be treated by professional therapists, regardless of treatment approach. Reducing the amount of therapist time to almost null to fix the treatment gap has not been a successful strategy. Replacing face-to-face sessions with telephone contact and/or reducing the number of face-to-face sessions has been successful. Still, face-to-face sessions require travel on part of the patient during office hours and telephone sessions require scheduling of contact, also during office hours.

Symptom-related fear and accompanying avoidance behaviors has been shown to be the most important predictor of IBS diagnostic status, compared to general psychological distress. Yet, none of the psychological approaches described above have made symptom-related fear and avoidance behaviors the primary target of treatment. In some treatments the role of these factors in IBS have been acknowledged, but other sources of stress such as interpersonal relationships and maladaptive cognitions about the self and the world seem to have been given equal or more weight as maintaining factors. The common inclusion of relaxation techniques in cognitive behavioral therapies could indicate that the primary source of symptom-inducing stress has not been identified in those treatments. If this primary source has been identified and is targeted by treatment, relaxation might not be necessary to control the stress emanating from this source. Perhaps the inconsistencies in effects between trials of cognitive behavioral therapies are an indication that they have partly failed to identify the primary source of symptom-inducing stress.

1.6 OUTLINING A NEW TREATMENT APPROACH

During recent years a new development within the cognitive behavioral tradition has gained interest. This "third wave" of cognitive and behavioral therapies is aimed at reducing emotional avoidance and increasing behavioral flexibility to promote mental and physical health. A new format of treatment-delivery has also emerged during the last decade. Using the internet to provide evidence-based treatments has shown efficacy in decreasing symptom levels in a number of disorders. Exposure is considered by some to be a key intervention in standard CBT but has not been an integral part of CBT-treatments for IBS. Below, the principles of these new developments and how they, together with exposure, can be applied to IBS is discussed.

1.6.1 EXPERIENTIAL AVOIDANCE

The process through which IBS symptoms become associated with stress and avoidance behaviors, leading to even more symptoms, bears much resemblance to the concept of experiential avoidance. According to Hayes et al. (149), experiential avoidance is an unwillingness to experience aversive private events such as bodily sensations, emotions, and thoughts. This unwillingness is

manifested as behaviors that serve to control or escape both the events and the contexts that occasion them. This maps well onto IBS, where symptoms and several symptom-related situations have become aversive. IBS patients try to alter their symptoms, using e.g. symptom-controlling drugs, distraction, or relaxation, or to avoid situations that are likely to cause symptoms, e.g. eating certain foods or stressful situations. Furthermore, they avoid situations that would be threatening if symptoms were present, e.g. social events or being far from a restroom (101).

Experiential avoidance is proposed to be a core component of psychopathology when it is used as a strategy to control private events that are not controllable by will, or when the process of avoidance increases the strength of the undesired experience, or when the means of avoidance create additional suffering (149). Again, IBS fits well with this process. The biological mechanisms that underlie IBS symptoms (e.g. motility and pain processing) cannot be controlled directly and as GI symptoms are part of normal gut functioning they cannot be avoided entirely. Nor is conditioned fear of IBS symptoms and related situations under willful control. The avoidance of IBS symptoms or symptom-related situations has also been associated with increased symptom intensity and functional impairment (101) (i.e. the avoidance increases the strength of the undesired experience and additional suffering).

The role of avoidance of negative emotions and thoughts is also emphasized in contemporary models of many of the psychological disorders that show high comorbidity with IBS, e.g. panic disorder (150), generalized anxiety disorder (151), and depression (152). In addition, IBS patients show increased prevalence of chronic pain (153), which is also heavily influenced by symptom-related fear and avoidance behaviors (154). Rather than being separate disorders within one patient, IBS and these accompanying psychological and physical disorders could therefore be regarded as a behavioral pattern of experiential avoidance.

Experiential avoidance is a key concept within the "third wave" of cognitive and behavioral therapies, which includes therapeutic approaches such as acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT), dialectic behavior therapy (DBT), and mindfulness-based cognitive therapy (155). In ACT and DBT, principal aims of the treatment are to increase acceptance instead of avoidance of negative experiences, by promoting behavioral flexibility in the presence of aversive stimuli instead of exercising control over these stimuli (155, 156). Integral in both treatments is the use of acceptance and mindfulness techniques to achieve these goals.

1.6.2 MINDFULNESS AND ACCEPTANCE

Mindfulness is a practice that originates from Buddhist tradition and has been used within that tradition to decrease the mental suffering that is regarded ubiquitous in human existence (157). The mindfulness-based stress reduction

program, published in 1982, introduced mindfulness as a clinical intervention for chronic pain (158). Since then mindfulness has been evaluated as a clinical intervention for a variety of disorders. In a recent meta-analysis, Hofmann et al. included studies that used mindfulness as a stand-alone treatment for anxiety disorders, depression, pain disorders, medical problems, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, and eating disorders (159). Overall, mindfulness was moderately effective in improving anxiety and mood symptoms. However, in patients suffering from mood or anxiety disorders mindfulness interventions were associated with large improvements.

Although mindfulness is gaining popularity there are many different clinical applications of mindfulness with significant differences in underlying theory, training, aim, and hypothesized mechanisms (160). Notably, in ACT and DBT, mindfulness is not a stand-alone component but is used as a strategy within the overall agenda of increasing acceptance and behavioral flexibility (160). Within DBT, mindfulness is hypothesized to improve emotional regulation and attentional control while also functioning as exposure to aversive experiences and teaching new behavioral responses, i.e. acceptance instead of attempts to avoid or alter these experiences (156). In ACT, mindfulness and acceptance are closely linked concepts, focused on experiencing internal events without judging them or trying to alter them (160). Mindfulness has been suggested to consist of several behavioral dimensions. *Observing* is the process of observing internal and external experiences, describing refers to labeling of internal experiences, acting with awareness is an ongoing attention to one's activities, nonjudging and nonreactivity of inner experiences are two processes that refer to taking a nonevaluative stance towards thoughts and feelings and not reacting to these experiences, i.e. letting them come and go without getting caught up in them (161).

Thus, mindfulness is a behavior that is opposite to distraction from or suppression of aversive inner stimuli such as thoughts or emotions. This is an important aspect of mindfulness, as attempts to control thoughts and emotions often have the paradoxical effect of increasing the strength of the target thoughts or emotions (162). In laboratory studies, mindfulness through focused breathing has led to better improvement in dysphoric mood than rumination and distraction (163) and less reactivity to negative images than worry and free mind-wandering (164). Encouraging acceptance instead of control of negative experiences has been shown to decrease the fear response and avoidance impulses after inhalation of carbon dioxide enriched air (inducing panic-like symptoms), when compared to emotional suppression (165) and diaphragmatic breathing (166). Interestingly, outside mindfulness research the behavior of labeling or describing aversive stimuli has been found to modulate the response to these stimuli. Sensory monitoring, i.e. describing the physical characteristics of a sensation, has been shown to decrease the unpleasantness of painful stimuli (167). Matching an angry or scared face to a label describing the emotion leads

to larger down-regulation in amygdala activity, a brain region involved in the expression of fear (168), than matching with another angry/scared face (169) or the gender of the face (170). Furthermore, the effect of repeated exposure seems to be facilitated when aversive stimuli are paired with labels describing the stimuli (171).

1.6.3 EXPOSURE TREATMENT

Exposure treatment is probably among the most powerful interventions to reduce fear or anxiety associated with a stimulus (172). The main principle of exposure, to repeatedly expose oneself to a feared stimulus in order to reduce the fear of that stimulus, became widely recognized after Wolpe had developed systematic desensitization to treat specific phobias (173). The desensitization procedure included presenting the phobic stimuli to the patient while the patient was in a relaxed state. It was theorized that the relaxed state would "countercondition" and ultimately eliminate the fear elicited by the stimulus (172). However, systematic desensitization had only limited value in treating clinical fears and the relaxed state did not prove to be necessary in exposure treatments (172, 173). In more recent models of exposure, it is emphasized that exposure should target experiential avoidance by eliciting a fear response and facilitate acting in a manner that is not in accord with the fear response, e.g. approaching instead of avoiding (172, 173). Within ACT, the purpose of exposure is not to reduce the fear response but to increase behavioral flexibility in the presence of stimuli that have previously narrowed the behavior repertoire, while being aware of and accepting the feelings elicited by the stimuli (155, 174).

Craske et al. recently summarized experimental studies of the mechanisms of exposure treatment (175). They concluded that effective exposure does not depend on fear reduction during exposure but rather on development of fear tolerance. Exposure exercises should be focused on violating the expectancies of the patient, both on automatic and propositional levels. That is, the exposure should provide new information both regarding what stimuli that follow previously conditioned stimuli and verbal predictions about what will happen during the exposure. Furthermore, the use of safety behaviors may interfere with the exposure since the expectancy violation might be attributed to the safety behavior and therefore not result in new learning. Finally, exposure exercises should be spaced over time and take place in varying context that have close resemblance to the real-life contexts that evoke fear.

1.6.4 Internet-delivered cognitive behavior therapy

In 2009, Hunt et al. published the first study evaluating ICBT for IBS, consisting of relaxation training, cognitive restructuring, exposure exercises, and behavioral experiments (176). This study used e-mail to provide therapist contact and the results were promising with large improvements in IBS

symptoms compared to a waiting list. However, the study had large attrition rates and had not employed any diagnostic procedure.

There are many different approaches that use the internet to deliver psychological treatments. The ICBT employed by Hunt et al. has many similarities to face-to-face CBT. In ICBT the patients learn about the treatment interventions by reading self-help texts that contain both educational material and instructions on how to perform the exercises that constitute the treatment. The general principle is that the treatment should reflect face-to-face therapy in terms of content, but instead of including face-to-face time with a therapist an online therapist guides the patient through the course of the treatment. The therapist contact is most often asynchronous, i.e. the communication does not take place trough real-time chats or video conferencing. Instead, the patient and therapist send messages to each other when it suits them, using e-mail or websites with integrated messaging systems. Usually, there is agreement upon how often the patient should check in with the therapist, e.g. once a week, and how fast the patient should expect to get answers from their therapist, e.g. within 24-48 hours during weekdays.

The therapist gives feedback on homework exercises completed by the patient, answers questions, and provides general support in the patient's work with the treatment. An important therapist task is to grant the patient gradual access to the treatment material. Often, the treatment material is not presented all at once but is divided into chapters, or modules, similar to how manualized CBT is scripted session-by-session. To get access to the next module, or "session", the patient has to complete the homework of the current module and report it to the therapist. In ICBT, therapist time is dramatically reduced compared to face-to-face CBT. Therapists usually spend about 10 minutes per week and patient (177). However, the outcome in ICBT seems to be dependent on a certain amount of therapist contact. Studies including very little or no therapist contact have lower treatment effects than studies including regular contact with a therapist (178, 179).

ICBT carries many advantages compared to traditional face-to-face CBT. These include larger patient volumes per therapist, no need for patients to take time off work to travel to the therapist's office, and patients living in rural and urban areas have equal access to treatment. ICBT also comes with disadvantages. The format makes it harder, but not impossible, to tailor the treatment after individual needs and idiosyncrasies in behavioral patterns. This makes it essential that the manuals are comprehensive and cover the majority of behavioral patterns that patients present with. The target disorder must therefore be well characterized and the diagnostic procedure must select the patients who fit the profile that is assumed in the manual. The treatment also demands much from the patients' ability to plan their treatment, to read the self-

help material and fit instructions and examples to their own behavioral patterns, and to use the internet to communicate with their therapist.

During the last decade, several trials have evaluated ICBT for various psychiatric disorders and health problems. One of the first studies employing the ICBT model described here targeted chronic headache (180). Later studies within the behavioral medicine field have been conducted on e.g. tinnitus, chronic pain, and insomnia with effect sizes similar to face-to-face treatment (181). Within the field of psychiatric disorders, ICBT has shown effectiveness for panic disorder, social phobia, post-traumatic stress disorder, depression, and bulimia nervosa/binge eating disorder (182). Recent studies from our research group have indicated that ICBT is effective for hypochondriasis (183) and may be as effective as cognitive behavioral group therapy in the treatment of panic disorder (184) and social anxiety disorder (185).

1.6.5 SYNTHESIS

IBS is a prevalent, costly, and debilitating disorder. Many patients with IBS also present with psychiatric and psychological problems. Pharmacological treatments come with side effects and require continuous use to be effective. Stress has been implicated as a cause of the major symptoms in IBS. Symptom-related fear and avoidance behaviors seem to be the most distinguishing factors in IBS and are related to illness severity. Although several psychological treatment approaches exist, none of them have symptom-related fear and avoidance behaviors as their primary target. Psychological treatments are not accessible for the majority of IBS patients.

There is an obvious application for exposure in the treatment of IBS. By exposing themselves to IBS symptoms and avoided situations, IBS patients should experience reductions in fear of IBS symptoms. However, these patients often show a wide repertoire of avoidance behaviors, as mirrored by the psychiatric and psychological comorbidities they present with. Within the third wave of CBT there is an emphasis on acceptance of inescapable negative experiences and behavioral flexibility in the presence of these experiences. Presenting exposure exercises in a context of acceptance and behavioral flexibility and using mindfulness to potentiate the exposure may both be specifically targeting IBS and broadly targeting an avoidant behavioral pattern. Using the internet to provide the treatment allows for large-scale implementations, which is necessary given the large prevalence of IBS.

2. AIMS OF THE THESIS

The overarching aim of this thesis was to develop and evaluate an effective psychological treatment for IBS that can be made accessible to a large number of IBS patients. The means to achieve this aim were to develop an exposure-based CBT treatment that emphasized acceptance and behavioral flexibility in response to IBS-related experiences and deliver this treatment via the internet. Five studies were conducted to evaluate the effectiveness of these means in achieving the aim.

2.1 STUDY I

The aim of this study was to evaluate exposure-based group CBT in the treatment of IBS. Participants were recruited through referral from gastroenterological clinics. We hypothesized that engaging in exposure exercises aided by mindful awareness would improve IBS-symptoms, quality of life, GI symptom-specific anxiety, and global functioning. We also hypothesized that the treatment would increase the willingness to be in contact with negative experiences. This would lead to a general improvement in mental health as expressed by psychiatric diagnoses. We also hypothesized that these improvements would be maintained 6 months after treatment.

2.2 STUDY II

The aim of this study was to evaluate exposure-based ICBT in the treatment of IBS. Participants were recruited through self-referral. We hypothesized that, compared to a waiting list control group, the treatment group would improve IBS-symptoms, quality of life, GI symptom-specific anxiety, depressive symptoms, and global functioning. We also hypothesized that these improvements would be maintained 3 months after treatment.

2.3 STUDY III

The aim of this study was to evaluate the long-term effects of exposure-based ICBT for IBS. The participants from study II were included in this study. We hypothesized that improvements in IBS symptoms, quality of life, and GI symptom-specific anxiety that had been achieved in treatment would be maintained 15-18 months after treatment.

2.4 STUDY IV

The aim of this study was to investigate the effectiveness and clinical utility of exposure-based ICBT within regular clinical practice. Participants were consecutively recruited from a gastroenterological clinic. We hypothesized that, compared to a waiting list control group, the treatment group would improve IBS-symptoms, quality of life, GI symptom-specific anxiety, depressive symptoms, and global functioning. We also hypothesized that these improvements would be maintained 12 months after treatment.

2.5 STUDY V

The aim of this study was to investigate the specificity of exposure-based ICBT for IBS. We therefore compared it with a credible internet-delivered control treatment based on stress management principles. Participants were self-referred. We hypothesized that the treatments would be perceived as equally credible by the participants but that exposure-based ICBT would be superior to internet-delivered stress management in reducing IBS-symptoms. We also hypothesized that this difference would be maintained 6 months after treatment.

3. THE EMPIRICAL STUDIES

First the common elements of the studies are presented. Then each study is presented with details on participant recruitment, design, analysis, results, and methodological discussions. Finally, the results on IBS-specific outcomes shared between the studies are summarized. Table 1 provides an overview of the studies' characteristics with regards to aims, design, assessment points, and participant demographics.

3.1 MEASURES

Table 2 provides an overview of the outcome measures used in each study. In studies II-V all self-assessments except the GI symptom diary were administered online. Online assessment has been shown to be reliable and produces results very similar to traditional paper-and-pencil administration (186).

3.1.1 MEASURES OF IBS SYMPTOMS

In studies I and II the GI symptom diary (187) was used. It is a measure of primary IBS symptoms (abdominal pain and tenderness, diarrhea, constipation, and bloating) and additional common GI symptoms (flatulence, belching and nausea). Based on the primary symptoms, a relative change score between -1 and 1 can be calculated (CPSR; 125). A CPSR score of \geq 0.5, which means at least 50 % reduction in primary symptoms, is considered a clinically significant improvement (188). Studies II-V used the gastrointestinal symptom rating scale – IBS version (GSRS-IBS; 189), which measures the severity of GI symptoms experienced in the last week. Since IBS-symptoms have been shown to be intermittently clustered and occurring about once a week (190), three to four weeks of symptom monitoring with the GI symptom diary and GSRS-IBS was used to establish a reliable assessment of symptom severity in all studies.

In studies III and V we used another measure of clinically significant improvement. Adequate relief of IBS symptoms was assessed by asking the participants: "In the past week, have you had adequate relief from IBS pain or discomfort?" (191).

3.1.2 Measures of IBS-related impairment

The irritable bowel syndrome quality of life instrument (IBS-QOL; 192) includes IBS-related domains such as dysphoric thoughts, symptoms interference with activity, food avoidance, and impact on relationships. The level of GI symptom-specific anxiety, i.e. the cognitive, affective, and behavioral responses to GI symptoms and related contexts, was measured using the visceral sensitivity index (VSI; 103). The IBS-QOL and VSI were used in all studies. In study V we also included the cognitive scale for functional bowel disorders (CSFBD; 193), which measures negative thoughts about bowel function and personality characteristics thought to be linked to IBS, e.g. perfection and need for social approval.

Table 1. Characteristics of the studies in the thesis.

	Study I	Study II	Study III	Study IV	Study V
Study aim	Evaluation of efficacy of exposure-based cognitive behavior group therapy for IBS	Evaluation of efficacy of internet-delivered exposure-based cognitive behavior therapy for IBS	Long-term follow-up of study II	Evaluation of effectiveness of internet-delivered exposure-based cognitive behavior therapy for IBS in a clinical setting	Comparison of internet-delivered exposure-based cognitive behavior therapy with internet-delivered stress management for IBS
Sample	Patients referred from gastroenterological clinics	Self-referred patients diagnosed with IBS	Participants in study II	Consecutive patients at one gastroenterological clinic	Self-referred patients diagnosed with IBS
Design	Open study	RCT, waiting list- controlled	Follow-up	RCT, waiting list-controlled	RCT, two treatment conditions
Assessment points	Pre-treatment, post- treatment, 6-month follow-up	Pre-treatment, post- treatment, 3-month follow-up (treatment group only)	15-18-month follow-up after treatment	Pre-treatment, post-treatment, 12- month follow-up (treatment group only)	Pre-treatment, post-treatment, 6- month follow-up
Sample size	34	85	75	62	195
Participant characteristics					
Female	100%	85%	%98	74%	79%
Age (sd)	34.6 (11.0)	34.6 (9.6)	35.9 (8.9)	34.7 (11.2)	38.9 (11.1)
Years with IBS (sd)	11.2 (7.8)	14.0 (11.4)	15.5 (11.0)	11.5 (11.7)	14.9 (11.2)
Some college or more		64%		64%	77%

Table 2. Outcome measures used in the studies.

Measure	Study I	Study II	Study III	Study IV	Study V
GI symptom diary	Pre Post 6 mo f-u	Pre Post			
GSRS-IBS		Pre Post 3 mo f-u	15-18 mo f-u	Pre Post 12 mo f-u	Pre Post 6 mo f-u
Adequate relief			15-18 mo f-u		Post 6 mo f-u
IBS-QOL	Pre Post 6 mo f-u	Pre Post 3 mo f-u	15-18 mo f-u	Pre Post 12 mo f-u	Pre Post 6 mo f-u
VSI	Pre Post 6 mo f-u	Pre Post 3 mo f-u	15-18 mo f-u	Pre Post 12 mo f-u	Pre Post 6 mo f-u
CSFBD					Pre Post 6 mo f-u
MADRS-S	Pre Post 6 mo f-u	Pre Post		Pre Post 12 mo f-u	
Sheehan disability scales	Pre Post 6 mo f-u	Pre Post		Pre Post 12 mo f-u	
HADS					Pre Post 6 mo f-u
PSS					Pre Post 6 mo f-u
MINI & CGI	Pre Post 6 mo f-u				
Treatment credibility scale		During treatment			During treatment
Working alliance inventory					During treatment

For each study and outcome measure the assessment points are given. *Pre*: pre-treatment assessment; *Post*: post-treatment assessment, *X mo f-u*: Follow-up assessment X months after treatment.

3.1.3 MEASURES OF GENERAL DISTRESS

The Montgomery Åsberg depression rating scale – self report (MADRS-S; 194) is a measure of depressive symptoms. The Sheehan disability scales (195) assess symptom-induced disability in three domains, social, work, and family. The MADRS-S and Sheehan disability scales were used in studies I, II, and IV.

In Study V the 10-item version of the perceived stress scale (PSS; 196) was used to measure the degree to which daily situations were perceived as stressful by the participants. In the same study we used the hospital anxiety and depression

scale (HADS; 197), which measures the levels of anxiety and depression on two separate subscales.

In study I psychiatric interviews were conducted by the study psychiatrist and included the mini-international neuropsychiatric interview (MINI; 198) and the clinical global impression scale (CGI; 199).

3.1.4 Measures of treatment process variables

In studies II and V we used the treatment credibility scale (200) to measure how participants perceived the treatments, namely how credible the treatment seemed and how successful participants predicted that the treatment would be in alleviating their problems. In study V we also included the working alliance inventory (201) to measure how participants rated the quality of the contact with their online therapist.

3.2 EXPOSURE-BASED COGNITIVE BEHAVIOR THERAPY

Some adjustments in how the treatment was presented were made between each study based on how it was received by the participants. However, the main interventions and theoretical framing of the treatment were the same throughout all the studies. Below, the treatment is described more extensively than in the papers describing the studies.

Two features of this treatment separate it from other CBT protocols for IBS. First, it is rooted in a behavioral and functional perspective in that it views human behavior as an adaptation to environmental contingencies (172). Thus, the behavioral, cognitive, and emotional dimensions of experiential avoidance in IBS are seen as learned responses to IBS-related stimuli. Although they are maintaining factors in IBS they are themselves not caused by negative thinking patterns or some other behavioral predisposition. Instead, they are caused by historical associations between IBS symptoms and negative experiences and historical reinforcement of behaviors that have served to avoid and control these experiences. These reinforcers have typically been temporary relief of symptoms or anxiety. Second, this behavioral pattern is countered through acceptance of IBS symptoms and related cognitions and feelings through exposure exercises combined with mindful awareness. Mindful exposure changes the association between symptom-related stimuli and fear but also introduces new consequences that can influence future behavior. These consequences are typically reinforcers that have come to occur less frequently or not at all because of the avoidant behavioral pattern. These may be reinforcers that are dependent on engaging in e.g. social events, spontaneous behavior, physical activity, or difficult tasks at work.

The exposure-based treatment consists of three main themes. The first theme is education about a psychological model of IBS, explaining the relationship between behaviors that serve to control or avoid symptoms, stress, symptom awareness, and symptom severity. The patients' own experiences of the

historical short-term reinforcement of avoidance and control behaviors and ongoing detrimental effects of these behaviors on quality of life are discussed from this perspective.

The second theme is mindfulness and acceptance; patients are taught a 15 minute mindfulness exercise to be practiced daily and a brief exercise aimed at bringing the patient into immediate awareness of current GI symptoms, thoughts, feelings, and behavioral impulses. Negative thoughts in the presence of aversive stimuli are explained to be a natural consequence of the negative valence of these stimuli and are part of the avoidant behavioral pattern. Patients are encouraged to take an accepting stance towards these thoughts instead of trying to alter or suppress them. Changing the avoidant behavior will eventually attenuate dominating and disturbing negative thinking.

The third theme is exposure, chiefly divided into three categories. 1) Exercises that provoke symptoms, such as certain foods, physical activity, and stressful situations. 2) Abolishment of behaviors that serve to control symptoms, such as distraction, excessive toilet visits, eating certain foods, resting, and taking over-the-counter medications. 3) Exposure to real life contexts where symptoms are unwanted, such as attending a meeting when experiencing abdominal pain, riding the bus with fear of losing control of the bowels, or attending a party while feeling bloated and unattractive. These three categories of exposure exercises are often combined, e.g. eating symptom-provoking food before a meeting while wearing uncomfortably tight clothes, and not visiting the toilet before the meeting. The problem with safety behaviors, i.e. behaviors that are believed to lower the risks associated with an exposure exercise, is explained and they are weaned.

The exposure exercises are presented to serve two purposes. Engaging in exposure exercises will probably result in long-term extinction of the fear response to the aversive stimuli, leading to reduction in symptoms. But exposure also serves to broaden the behavior repertoire in the presence of aversive stimuli. Using exposure exercises with the sole purpose to reduce IBS symptoms could prove to be insufficient. IBS symptoms are not under willful control and are part of the normal variations in gut functioning - thus even successfully treated patients will experience GI symptoms (but probably identify them as IBS symptoms) during the rest of their life. Fear-responses to symptoms and associated situations may also linger even after successful exposure exercises. Thus, future variations in symptoms may trigger the fear response, leading to more symptoms and associated negative thoughts and emotions. This underlines the importance of using exposure exercises to practice reacting to aversive stimuli with behaviors that allow access to important reinforcers, rather than with avoidance or control behaviors that preclude the access to these reinforcers. This practice ensures that these reinforcers will be accessible even in future presence of these aversive experiences.

Patients are also instructed on how to use mindfulness during exposure. By observing and labeling their environment, i.e., aversive, neutral, and positive internal and external stimuli, they will counter distraction from and suppression of thoughts and emotions. By attending to any impulses to flee the situation or decrease the intensity of symptoms they will also be less inclined to act on these impulses. Patients are also instructed to predict how they think the exposure will play out before the exposure exercises. After completing the exercises they compare their experience with their prediction.

Throughout treatment, acceptance of aversive experiences that cannot be controlled without causing secondary suffering is emphasized. Exposure to these experiences is conceptualized as acceptance of them and willingness to be in contact with them. At the end of treatment the risk of relapse into strategies of symptom control and avoidance is discussed.

3.3 INTERNET-DELIVERED CBT

Studies I, II, IV, and V employed ICBT as it is presented in the Background. The treatment was based on the exposure-based CBT protocol. The treatment material was presented on printer-friendly web pages and divided into several successive steps. All participants had an assigned online therapist. To progress through treatment, participants had to report that they had worked through a treatment step to get access to the next. During treatment, participants also had access to an online closed discussion forum where they could discuss their treatment with each other.

3.4 STUDY I

Table 3 displays relevant effect sizes and proportions of clinically significant improvements together with results from associated statistical tests in all studies. All studies were approved by the regional ethics committee.

3.4.1 PARTICIPANTS

Female participants, between the age of 18 and 65, were included in the study if they had been diagnosed with IBS at a gastroenterological outpatient clinic. Patients were excluded if any somatic or psychiatric disorder deemed to interfere with treatment was present. Information about the study was spread to gastroenterological clinics in Stockholm, Sweden, and patients were referred to the study psychiatrist. Most participants were referred to the study from their gastroenterologist. A total of 34 participants were included.

3.4.2 Intervention

The group treatment consisted of 10 weekly 2-hour group sessions lead by two psychologists, with 4-6 participants in each group. The first four sessions were focused on teaching the participants the psychological model underlying the treatment and mindfulness exercises. In the remaining six sessions the focus was on planning and evaluating between-sessions exposure exercises. Throughout the treatment all sessions were therapist-lead. Although participants in the

group interacted during sessions and coffee breaks, sharing of personal information or peer-support was not considered part of the therapeutic process and was not encouraged (nor discouraged) by the therapists.

3.4.3 ASSESSMENTS

The study included a psychiatric assessment including the MINI and CGI. The self-assessments included the GI symptom diary, IBS-QOL, VSI, MADRS-S, and Sheehan disability scales. All assessments were conducted at pre-treatment, post-treatment, and at 6-month follow-up.

Table 3. Reported within- and between-groups effect sizes and proportion of clinically significant improvements for all studies, together with results from associated significance tests.

	Study I	Study II	Study III		Study IV	Stu	Study V	
Measure			ICBT	WL		Post	F-U	
The GI symptom diary								
Primary symptoms	0.83*	0.83*						
Pain	0.64*	0.64*						
Constipation	0.35*	0.76						
Diarrhea	0.43	0.32*						
Bloating	1.02*	0.94*						
% CPSR ≥ 0.5 or % Adequate relief	50%	ICBT: 40% WL: 2%*	52%	65%		ICBT: 69% ISM: 58%	ICBT: 65% ISM: 44%*	
GSRS-IBS		1.21*	1.11*	0.94*	0.75*	0.38*	0.44*	
IBS-QOL	1.30*	0.93*	0.91*	0.94*	0.82*	0.51*	0.31*	
VSI	1.40*	0.64*	0.79*	0.79*	0.74*	0.33*	0.37*	
CSFBD						0.52*	0.36*	
MADRS-S	0.59	0.43*			0.61			
Sheehan disability scales	1.21*	0.47*			0.21*			
HADS anxiety						0.04	0.14	
HADS depression						0.01	0.08	
PSS						-0.02	0.06	

All effect sizes are Cohen's d and * marks p<.05 for associated statistical tests.

Study I: Within-group effect sizes for improvements from pre-treatment to post-treatment assessment. *Significant dependent t-test. Study II: Between-groups effect sizes comparing treatment group and waiting list at post-treatment. *Significant interaction effects of 2x2 repeated measures ANOVA or Chi-2 for difference in CPSR proportions. Study III: Within-group effect sizes for improvements from pre-treatment to 15-18-month follow-up with missing values replaced by pre-treatment scores based on all participants in study II and separately reported for Study II's original treatment group (ICBT) and waiting list after being crossed over to treatment (WL). *Significant dependent t-test. Study IV: Between-groups effect sizes comparing treatment group and waiting list at post-treatment. *Significant interaction effects of mixed models analysis. Study V: Between-groups effect sizes comparing treatment (Post) and 6-month follow-up (F-U). *Significant interaction effects of mixed models analysis or Chi-2 for difference in adequate relief proportions.

ICBT: Internet-delivered exposure based CBT. *ISM*: Internet-delivered stress management.

3.4.4 ANALYSIS

Dependent t-tests were used to examine the treatment group's change from pretreatment to post-treatment and to test if treatment gains were sustained at follow-up. At post-treatment and follow-up, the proportion of participants who had a CPSR score ≥ 0.5 (50% improvement on primary GI symptoms), the proportion of participants who were recovered from diagnosable pre-treatment psychiatric conditions, and the proportion of participants who were much or very much improved according to the CGI were calculated.

3.4.5 RESULTS

Twenty-nine of the 34 participants (85%) completed the post-treatment assessment and 30 (88%) completed the 6-month follow-up.

Participants showed significant improvement on all symptoms measured by the GI symptom diary at post-treatment, except for diarrhea. The treatment effects on bloating and the composite primary symptom score were large. The effects on the VSI, IBS-QOL, and Sheehan disability scales were large and significant. Effects on MADRS-S were non-significant. All improvements were maintained at the 6-month follow-up.

The proportion of patients with CPSR scores \geq 0.5 was 50% at post-treatment and 44% at 6-month follow-up. At pre-treatment, 14 (41%) of the patients fulfilled at least one DSM-diagnosis (e.g. dysthymia, panic disorder, agoraphobia, and generalized anxiety disorder). Of the 14 patients diagnosed with a disorder at pre-treatment, 6 (42%) and 9 (64%) no longer fulfilled diagnostic criteria at post-treatment and follow-up, respectively. As judged by the CGI, 22 (65%) and 21 (62%) were considered much or very much improved at post-treatment and follow-up, respectively.

3.4.6 METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

This study did not include a control group, which limits the validity of the trial. However, in a review of CBT for IBS, Blanchard found that in 15 of 16 trials CBT was superior to a waiting list or treatment as usual control group (202). This indicates that active treatments have effects beyond those of time. Our recruitment method also limits the generalizability of the results. Participants were referred by gastroenterologists who may have selected patients on basis of perceived suitability for a psychological treatment. Thus, the study did probably not include a representative sample of IBS patients. The psychiatrist who assessed the patients is part of the research team and may have been biased towards detecting improvement after treatment. An independent assessor would have been preferable.

3.5 STUDY II

3.5.1 PARTICIPANTS

Participants were eligible for the study if they declared to have had a previous diagnosis of IBS established by a physician and if they presently fulfilled Rome III criteria for IBS (12). The study did not include a gastroenterological examination and we therefore used telephone interviews to confirm diagnostic criteria and exclude patients with symptoms that in a live care setting would have rendered a somatic investigation to rule out organic disease. Patients with suicide ideation or severe depressive symptoms, substance dependence, or psychiatric disorders were also excluded. Participants were recruited through self-referral. Information about the studies was spread to websites and newspapers. Gastroenterological clinics located in Stockholm were also informed about the studies. The study included 85 participants.

3.5.2 Interventions

Participants were randomized to 10 weeks of ICBT (n=42) or a waiting list (n=43). The online therapists were 2 graduate psychology students in the last term of the five-year psychology program. They had completed clinical training including supervised psychological treatment and clinical placement. They spent a mean of 16.5 minutes (sd=8.5) per week and participant during the treatment.

We had the ambition to exert some control over the effects of attention and weekly activity in the study. Participants randomized to the waiting list were therefore given access to an online discussion forum (separate from the one used by the treatment intervention) where suggestions about general discussions regarding IBS were given. Participants were also allowed to initiate contact with an online therapist if they wished to receive general support, but were offered no CBT-based advice on how to handle IBS symptoms or psychological distress. Besides sending an introductory message, the therapist did not initiate contact with participants on the waiting list. However, the activity of the waiting list participants in the discussion forums and utilization of therapist contact was almost negligible.

3.5.3 ASSESSMENTS

The assessments included the GI symptom diary, GSRS-IBS, IBS-QOL, VSI, MADRS-S, and the Sheehan disability scales. These were administered at pretreatment and post-treatment for both groups. At 3-month follow-up the treatment group also completed the GSRS-IBS, IBS-QOL, and VSI. After two weeks of treatment, the treatment group completed the treatment credibility scale.

3.5.4 ANALYSIS

We used 2x2 repeated measures ANOVA and calculated the interaction effects between group and time to test for improvements in the treatment group

compared to the waiting list. The proportion of participants who had a CPSR score ≥ 0.5 post-treatment was calculated. We also examined the relationship between completing the treatment and the rated treatment credibility. Dependent t-tests were used to examine if treatment gains were maintained from post-treatment to 3-month follow-up for the treatment condition.

3.5.5 RESULTS

Thirty-eight of 42 (90%) in the treatment group completed the post-treatment and 3-month follow-up assessments and all 43 (100%) in the waiting list completed the post-treatment assessment.

Except for constipation, all interaction effects were significant. Large between-groups effects were observed on primary symptoms, bloating, GSRS-IBS, and IBS-QOL. Moderate effects were observed on pain and the VSI. The between-groups effects on the MADRS-S and Sheehan disability scales were low. Using a CPSR score ≥ 0.5 as measure of clinically significant symptom reduction, 17 of 42 (40%) in the treatment condition and 1 of 43 (2%) in the waiting list were improved, a significant difference. All improvements in the treatment group were maintained at the 3-month follow-up.

When comparing the treatment credibility scores of the 29 participants who completed the treatment and the 11 who did not complete the treatment, a significant difference was revealed, with a large between-groups effect size (Cohen's d = 0.92).

3.5.6 METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

In this study, we did not include a proper diagnostic procedure but relied on a previous diagnosis that was confirmed in a telephone interview. Therefore, we cannot be sure that all participants actually fulfilled Rome III criteria for IBS. The use of self-referral also limits the generalizability of the study. We included limited therapist contact and an online discussion forum in the waiting list condition to exert some control over the effects of attention. But the activity in the waiting list was negligible. An active control group that included credible treatment interventions would have been preferable to control for the non-specific effects of a psychological treatment.

3.6 STUDY III

3.6.1 PARTICIPANTS

In study III all participants from study II were contacted for follow-up assessments. Within study II they had been randomized to either ICBT or waiting list. After the conclusion of study II the waiting list was crossed over to treatment. Thus, at the time of follow-up, all participants in study II had been offered ICBT. Seventy-five of the original study's 85 (88%) participants agreed to participate in the follow-up. The original treatment group was followed up 18

months after treatment and the waiting list was followed up at 15 months after completing the treatment (mean 16.4 months).

3.6.2 ASSESSMENTS

The assessments included the GSRS-IBS, IBS-QOL, VSI, and the adequate relief question.

3.6.3 ANALYSIS

Within-group effect sizes were calculated for the improvement from pretreatment to follow-up. We used dependent t-tests to assess whether these improvements were significant and to test if treatment gains were sustained from post-treatment to the follow-up. The proportion of participants reporting adequate relief was calculated. Missing follow-up values were replaced with pretreatment values, meaning that the calculations also included the 10 participants from Study II who did not participate in Study III. These calculations were made separately for the original study's treatment group and waiting list, which had been crossed over to treatment. We also examined if participants who had completed the whole treatment had better long-term outcomes than participants who had not completed the treatment.

3.6.4 RESULTS

There were significant improvements from pre-treatment to follow-up on all measures, the GSRS-IBS, IBS-QOL, and VSI, and improvements were maintained from post-treatment to follow-up. The within-group effect sizes from pre-treatment to follow-up were large on the GSRS-IBS and IBS-QOL and near-large on the VSI. At follow-up, 52% of participants in the original study's treatment group and 65% of the waiting list participants reported adequate relief (59% of the total sample).

When participants who had completed the treatment (n=62) were compared to the participants who had not completed the treatment (n=13), there were significant differences on the IBS-QOL (between-groups d=0.84) and VSI (d=0.72). The difference between the groups on the GSRS-IBS was borderline significant (p<.06 and d=0.68). Furthermore, a significantly larger proportion of completers reported adequate relief, 74% compared with 33%.

3.6.5 METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Since the waiting list in study II had been offered treatment we could not compare the long-term effects with a control group. Crossing over patients from waiting list to treatment also introduces some methodological problems because of possible interaction effects between being on a waiting list and then participating in treatment. However, there did not seem to be any major differences between the original study's treatment group and waiting list at the follow-up. This indicates small, if any, interaction effects in the waiting list.

3.7 STUDY IV

3.7.1 PARTICIPANTS

The participants in study V were recruited consecutively at a gastroenterological clinic in Stockholm. Participants were eligible for the study if they fulfilled the Rome III criteria for IBS (12), were between 18 and 65 years old, had no presence of current or previous inflammatory bowel disease, did not suffer from such severe diarrhea that symptom-modifying antidepressants were judged to be the treatment of first choice, and if they were willing to participate in the study.

As our aim was to recruit patients who attended a regular gastroenterological clinic and minimize selection bias, no information about the study was spread through advertisements or to other caregivers in Stockholm. All included participants were given standardized information about IBS and basic dietary and lifestyle advice on how to manage their IBS (i.e., treatment as usual). If appropriate they were also given information about over-the-counter drugs and/or prescribed medication. Of 117 patients who were eligible and considered for the study, 11 were prescribed antidepressants, 12 declined participation, 12 were excluded for other reasons, 5 patients could not be reached within the recruitment period, 15 patients were included but dropped out before randomization, and 62 were randomized.

3.7.2 Interventions

The 62 participants were randomized to 10 weeks of ICBT (n=30) or a waiting list (n=32). Two clinical psychologists managed the online therapeutic contact. The therapists spent a mean of 7.3 minutes (sd=5.2) per patient in the ICBT condition and week. Similarly to study II, the waiting list included a limited supportive therapist contact and an online discussion forum. Also similarly to study II, the activity in the waiting list was almost negligible.

3.7.3 ASSESSMENTS

The assessments included the GSRS-IBS, IBS-QOL, VSI, MADRS-S, and the Sheehan disability scales. These were administered at pre-treatment and post-treatment for both groups and at 12-month follow-up for the treatment group.

3.7.4 ANALYSIS

Main outcome variables were analyzed using a linear mixed effects model fitted with full information maximum likelihood estimation (203). The superior qualities regarding missing data as well as increased power compared to the traditional repeated measures ANOVA make mixed models the preferred choice for longitudinal data analysis (204). We used the fixed effects interaction between group and time to examine the difference in rates of change between the treatment condition and waiting list from pre- to post-treatment.

3.7.5 RESULTS

Twenty-three of 30 (77%) in the treatment group completed the post-treatment and 20 of 30 (67%) completed the 12-month follow-up. Twenty-eight of 32 (88%) of the participants in the waiting list completed the post-treatment assessment.

Significant interaction effects from the mixed models analyses were obtained on the GSRS-IBS, IBS-QOL, VSI, and Sheehan disability scales but not on the MADRS-S. On the GSRS-IBS, IBS-QOL, and VSI the between-groups effects at post-treatment were about large and on the Sheehan disability scales the effect was small. All improvements in the treatment group were maintained at 12-month follow-up.

3.7.6 METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

This study addressed the limitations regarding recruitment in studies I and II by consecutively recruiting a clinical sample. However, although we had the ambition of conducting a study in clinical setting, many properties of the study are not part of a clinical setting. The use of a waiting list and extensive assessments may very well have made some patients less inclined to volunteer for the study or drop out after inclusion. Furthermore, a sample of patients at a gastroenterological clinic may not be generalizable to the whole IBS population. Similarly to study II, we had almost no activity in the waiting list, meaning that it did not provide any control over the non-specific effects of a psychological treatment.

3.8 STUDY V

3.8.1 PARTICIPANTS

The recruitment procedure in study V was almost identical to study II. We spread information about the study on the internet and to gastroenterological clinics in Stockholm. Participants had to declare that they had been diagnosed with IBS when applying for the study. Rome III criteria were confirmed in a telephone interview and participants with alarm symptoms, suicide ideation, or severe depressive symptom or substance dependence were excluded. The study included 195 participants.

3.8.2 INTERVENTIONS

Participants were randomized to ICBT (n=98) or internet-delivered stress management (ISM; n=97). Both treatments lasted for 10 weeks.

The stress management protocol was developed specifically for study V to ensure that relevant criteria for a credible control condition were met. The aim was to include elements that are common to all psychological interventions, e.g. a rationale for the interventions, acquisition and practice of new behaviors, expectancy of improvement, and therapeutic alliance (205). Participants in the study were informed that they would be randomized to one of two different

psychological treatments that were known to be effective in treating IBS, but they were not aware of the differences between the treatments.

Stress management is based on the common notion that IBS symptoms are exacerbated by daily stressors (65) and that better coping with these stressors should alleviate the burden of symptoms. The treatment interventions were: 1) Progressive applied relaxation, used to put the body in a state of immediate relaxation in response to IBS symptoms and psychological distress. 2) Dietary strategies, such as eating small but regular meals, taking enough time to eat, and becoming more aware of associations between certain foods and IBS symptoms. 3) Problem solving strategies used to divide daily hassles into smaller and solvable problems. 4) Advice on how to increase the quality of sleep using common sleep hygiene strategies. The stress management did not include any elements that encouraged the participants to engage in activities despite having symptoms (e.g., exposure) or to reduce their symptom controlling activities.

We used 6 therapists in the study, 4 graduate psychology students and two clinical psychologists. The therapists were randomly assigned participants from both conditions in equal numbers to control for any therapist-specific effects. In the ICBT group the therapists spent a mean of 10.1 minutes (sd=7.5) per participant and week writing messages to the participants and in the ISM group they spent 7.8 minutes (sd=6.2) per week and participant.

3.8.3 ASSESSMENTS

The assessments included the GSRS-IBS, IBS-QOL, VSI, CSFBD, HADS, and PSS at pre-treatment, post-treatment and 6-month follow-up for both groups. The adequate relief question was asked at post-treatment and 6-month follow-up. During treatment, the treatment credibility scale was administered after 2 and 5 weeks and the working alliance inventory as administered after 4 weeks.

3.8.4 ANALYSIS

We used the same analytic strategy as in study IV, a linear mixed effects model fitted with full information maximum likelihood estimation. We used the fixed effects interaction between group and time to examine the difference in rates of change between the ICBT and ISM from pre-treatment, via post-treatment, to 6-month follow-up.

In study V we also examined if the two treatments, ICBT and ISM, differed in terms of credibility and induction of expectation of improvement (as measured by the treatment credibility scale), therapeutic alliance with the online therapist (as measured by the working alliance inventory), or the amount of attention the participants received (as measured by the number of messages the online therapists sent). The proportions of participants reporting adequate relief in the two treatments at post-treatment and 6-month follow-up were also calculated and compared.

3.8.5 RESULTS

Ninety-seven of 98 (99%) ICBT participants and 94 of 97 (97%) ISM participants completed the post-treatment assessment and 87 (89%) of the ICBT participants and 82 (85%) of the ISM participants completed the 6-month follow-up.

There was a significant effect of group and time over the post-treatment and follow-up periods in the mixed models analyses on all IBS-specific outcome measures (GSRS-IBS, IBS-QOL, VSI, and CSFBD) but not on the general distress measures (HADS anxiety and depression and PSS). The between-groups effect sizes were in the small to moderate range at post-treatment and follow-up. Significantly more participants in the ICBT group than in the ISM group reported adequate relief at follow-up, 65% vs. 44%.

There were no differences on the process measures (the treatment credibility scale and working alliance inventory) or in the number of messages received from the online therapist between the groups.

3.8.6 METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

The study did not employ a proper gastroenterological examination and included self-referred participants. Therefore, the limitations regarding diagnostic procedure and generalizability in study II also pertain to this study. The research group is also biased towards favoring the ICBT treatment over the ISM treatment. This may have affected the therapists in their contact with the patients but also the interpretation and presentation of the data. However, we believe that the primary goal of the study, to control for the non-specific effects of a psychological treatment, was met despite this bias.

3.9 SUMMARY OF THE STUDIES

In the studies different data reporting and analysis strategies and different comparison groups were used. This makes it difficult to compare the results between the different conditions and get an overall impression of the effectiveness of exposure-based CBT. To allow for such comparison and evaluation the pre- and post-treatment scores for the IBS-specific measures shared between two or more of the studies (the GI symptom diary, GSRS-IBS, IBS-QOL, and VSI) were extracted from studies I, II, IV, and V. Within-group effect sizes, comparing post-treatment and pre-treatment, were calculated using three different strategies to handle missing data. 1) Using all available data, meaning that participants who dropped out of the studies before post-treatment still contributed to the pre-treatment values. 2) Using only data from participants who completed both the pre- and post-treatment assessments. 3) Replacing missing post-treatment values with pre-treatment values (last observation carried forward). Dependent t-tests were performed to test the significance of these pre- to post-treatment improvements.

Table 4 displays observed pre- and post-treatment scores for the GI symptom diary, GSRS-IBS, IBS-QOL, and VSI for all conditions in the treatment studies.

Looking at the results of exposure-based CBT the effect sizes on all measures are centered on 0.9-1.0 in all studies. The large dropout in study IV makes it an exception with lower conservative estimates of effect sizes on GSRS-IBS and IBS-QOL. Study I, which evaluated group treatment, has markedly higher effects on the IBS-QOL and VSI than the internet-delivered treatments.

In study V it was concluded that the internet-delivered CBT was superior to internet-delivered stress management, which is also clear in this presentation. The within-group effect sizes are about 0.5 on all measures for that treatment.

Participants on waiting lists (studies II and IV) did not improve on any outcomes during their stay on the waiting list. The only change that was observed was a significant deterioration on the IBS-QOL in the study IV waiting list.

Table 4. Observered pre- and post-treatment scores in Studies I, II, IV, and V with within-group effect sizes.

Within group ene	·					·			/ithin-gro	-
Measure	Pre	-treatn	nent	Pos	t-treat	ment			effect siz	e
Study - condition	n	m	sd	n	m	sd	Missing	Obs	Comp	LOCF
GI symptom diary [√]										
Study I - GCBT	34	5.1	2.7	33	2.9	2.8	3%	0.83*	0.79*	0.71*
Study II - ICBT	42	5.7	2.8	34	3.1	2.8	19%	0.95*	0.81*	0.61*
Study II - WL	43	5.2	2.5	43	5.2	2.6	0%	-0.04	-0.04	-0.04
GSRS-IBS										
Study II - ICBT	42	36.1	9.4	41	21.4	13.6	2%	1.27*	1.30*	1.28*
Study IV - ICBT	30	31.6	11.1	22	18.8	9.6	27%	1.24*	1.09*	0.61*
Study V - ICBT	98	34.5	10.5	96	23.3	12.7	2%	0.97*	0.98*	0.97*
Study V - ISM	97	34.3	9.4	90	28.1	12.4	7%	0.57*	0.56*	0.54*
Study II - WL	43	36.6	11.8	43	34.3	12.6	0%	0.19	0.19	0.19
Study IV - WL	32	26.7	11.8	28	27.5	14.4	13%	-0.06	-0.02	-0.02
IBS-QOL										
Study I - GCBT	34	51.9	20.2	33	77.5	19.1	3%	1.30*	1.28*	1.11*
Study II - ICBT	42	51.8	19.1	38	71.8	19.9	10%	1.02*	0.98*	0.89*
Study IV - ICBT	30	67.4	20.9	23	82.6	13.4	23%	0.89*	0.69*	0.39*
Study V - ICBT	98	57.1	19.1	97	75.7	17.7	1%	1.01*	1.01*	1.00*
Study V - ISM	97	55.5	18.9	94	65.7	21.1	3%	0.51*	0.53*	0.51*
Study II - WL	43	53.8	18.9	43	53.0	21.3	0%	-0.04	-0.04	-0.04
Study IV - WL	32	75.5	18.8	28	67.0	22.8	13%	-0.41*	-0.33*	-0.30*
VSI										
Study I - GCBT	34	47.7	18.3	33	24.0	15.6	3%	1.40*	1.36*	1.24*
Study II - ICBT	42	44.1	15.1	38	30.2	17.8	10%	0.84*	0.87*	0.81*
Study IV - ICBT	30	32.5	18.0	22	14.8	15.1	27%	1.07*	1.05*	0.70*
Study V - ICBT	98	38.5	16.8	96	24.9	16.9	2%	0.80*	0.79*	0.78*
Study V - ISM	97	38.6	16.4	91	30.5	16.8	6%	0.48*	0.52*	0.49*
Study II - WL	43	43.3	17.5	43	41.9	18.7	0%	0.07	0.07	0.07
Study IV - WL	32	27.3	16.1	28	26.3	17.5	13%	0.06	0.19	0.17

^{*}p<.05 for dependent t-test. Composite score of primary GI symptoms. Obs: Effect sizes calculated on all available data. Comp: Effect sizes calculated only on participants completing both pre- and post-treatment assessment. LOCF: Effect sizes with missing post-treatment scores replaced with pre-treatment scores. GCBT: Exposure-based group CBT. ICBT: Internet-delivered exposure-based CBT. ISM: Internet-delivered stress management. WL: Waiting list.

GCBT and ICBT effects sizes are framed.

4. GENERAL DISCUSSION

4.1 Interpretation of results

The aim of this thesis was to develop and evaluate an effective psychological treatment for IBS that can be made accessible to a large number of IBS patients. The means to achieve this aim were to develop an exposure-based CBT treatment that emphasized acceptance and behavioral flexibility in response to IBS-related experiences and deliver this treatment via the internet. Five studies were conducted to evaluate the effectiveness of these means in achieving the aim. In the first pilot study, the treatment was delivered in group format and in the following three treatment studies, it was delivered via internet. We hypothesized that the treatment would lead to improvements in IBS symptoms, quality of life, and GI symptom-specific anxiety.

In all four treatment studies these hypotheses were corroborated. In terms of effect sizes, the exposure-based CBT generally produced large within-group effects and large between-groups effects when waiting list was used as comparison condition. We used different definitions of treatment response between the studies. A 50% reduction of symptoms was used in studies I and II and gave a response rate of 40% and 50%, respectively. Subjectively rated adequate relief was used in studies III and V and gave a response rate between 52% and 69%. In study IV we did not report a dichotomous response rate. It is difficult to judge which measure gives the "true" rate of treatment responders. However, it seems reasonable to conclude that at least 50% of the patients who were included in these studies experienced a subjectively rated long-term adequate relief of IBS-related pain and discomfort.

We also hypothesized that the treatment would lead to reductions in comorbid psychiatric problems, since it emphasized behavioral flexibility in the presence of aversive stimuli. This hypothesis was confirmed in study I, where 64% of the participants who had fulfilled criteria for a DSM-diagnosis before treatment no longer did so at 6-month follow-up. In studies II, IV, and V this hypothesis was not explicit. However, significant reductions in depressive symptoms were noted in studies II and IV but with small effect sizes. In study V there was no difference between the two active treatment groups on the depression and anxiety scales, which could be interpreted as a contradiction of the hypothesis that the nature of the exposure-based intervention leads to broad effects on mental health. However, since depression is not present in all IBS patients, calculating an overall reduction score introduces ceiling effects in attainable effects sizes. Proper investigation of this hypothesis in studies II, IV, and V would therefore require better analysis of the data. The effects on global functioning are similarly modest, with between-groups effects of 0.21 and 0.47 compared to the waiting lists in studies II and IV, respectively. Again, this is probably due to a large spread in disability with many participants presenting with very little disability.

The studies used 3-, 6-, 12-, 15-, and 18-month follow-up periods and clearly show that treatment gains were maintained over time. This is in sharp contrast to pharmacological studies where the general rule is that discontinuation of the treatment leads to symptom relapse. With response rates over 50% that are sustained over time, these studies show a definite advantage of exposure-based CBT over pharmacological treatments. In study III, the long-term effects of actually engaging in the treatment become clear when comparing the follow-up scores for completers and non-completers. On all outcome measures, including adequate relief, there were meaningful differences between the two groups.

In light of the high societal costs of IBS we have made cost-effectiveness analyses on data collected in studies II and III, which have been published separately (206). The analyses showed that compared to the waiting list the ICBT leads to cost reductions of \$16,806 per successfully treated patient and year. These cost reductions were mainly driven by reduced work loss and were maintained at 15-18-month follow-up.

Study IV was designed to investigate the effectiveness and clinical utility of the treatment. We consecutively recruited patients from one gastroenterological clinic. In the discussion of the paper describing study IV we argue that the study shows that the exposure-based CBT may be effective for a larger proportion of IBS patients than studies I and II indicated. This discussion is based on the fact that the participants included in the study had less impairment as measured by the VSI and IBS-QOL than the participants in the previous studies. Since participants in those studies were referred and self-referred it could be concluded that referring gastroenterologists and patients have higher cut-offs regarding impairment than is necessary to achieve large improvements from treatment. However, I now believe that there are other explanations for this difference in impairment that do not support this conclusion. It could be that patients with more impairment are underrepresented in a consecutive sample of patients making their first visit at a gastroenterological. However, these patients would not be underrepresented in studies I and II, thus increasing the average impairment in those studies.

I think that it is more interesting to use study IV to make inferences about the acceptability of the treatment in a clinical setting. Based on available data in paper IV, acceptability could be defined as the proportion of eligible patients who ended up completing the post-treatment assessment. Of 117 patients who fulfilled eligibility criteria and were considered for the study, 62 were eventually randomized and of the 30 who were randomized to treatment, 23 (77%) participated in the post-treatment assessment. Extrapolating the dropout-rate in the treatment group to the whole randomized sample, 48 (77% of 62) patients could be considered as treatment completers. The acceptance rate of ICBT in a clinical setting could thereby by approximated to 41%, as 48 of 117 eligible patients would have started treatment and participated in the post-treatment

assessment. Compared to the other studies, this study had much larger rates of dropout after inclusion and randomization. Given that the previous studies had samples selected by referral or self-referral, this difference is not surprising. The consecutive recruitment probably resulted in a sample that was less motivated to engage in treatment within a clinical trial. In light of this, a 41% completion rate could be viewed as the minimum acceptance rate of ICBT in a clinical setting. If all study-related activities, such as extensive assessments and randomization, were removed the acceptance rate would probably have been higher. Also, because of the study design, patients who were prescribed antidepressants were excluded. In a clinical setting they would probably have been offered ICBT if symptoms still remained after the pharmacological treatment. Based on this, it is reasonable to believe that at least 50% of outpatients at a gastroenterological clinic would complete exposure-based ICBT with effects similar to the self-selected samples.

Study V evaluated the specificity of the exposure-based protocol by pitting it against a stress management protocol. In light of the previous studies (125, 129, 131) that had failed to show superiority of CBT compared to a credible control, we judged it necessary to put our treatment to the same test. We made sure to power the study so that meaningful between-groups effects could be detected. Although the between-groups effects on IBS-specific measures were rather small, between 0.33 and 0.52 at post-treatment, these results are still of great importance. They clearly show that the effects of exposure-based ICBT are not due to attention from a caregiver, credibility of a treatment, or expectancy of improvement. The differences in outcome between the treatments are the result of the specific ingredients in the ICBT condition and not non-specific factors. It could be argued that the study also shows that it is better to engage in exposure exercises than in the symptom control strategies that were used in the stress management condition. From a theoretical point of view this is a reasonable assumption as fear of symptoms and related avoidance behaviors seem to be key maintaining factors in IBS, and these factors were not the explicit target in the stress management treatment. However, study V was not primarily designed to compare two distinct treatment strategies. The stress management treatment was not written by experts in that line of IBS treatment while the exposurebased treatment is based on clinical experience in CBT for IBS with emphasis on acceptance and behavioral flexibility. It should also be noted that we have a bias towards favoring ICBT over the stress management treatment. Notwithstanding these limitations, study V indicates that exposure-based CBT is superior to symptom control strategies.

4.2 CONTEXTUALIZING

How does the treatment work? Although we observed improvements in the "GI symptom-specific anxiety"-construct, using the visceral sensitivity index, we have not performed any meditational analyses. Simple correlational analyses showing no associations between changes in symptoms and changes in

symptom-related fear would be an indication that the proposed mechanisms are not correct. However, the visceral sensitivity index might not be sensitive enough to capture change in symptom-related fear and avoidance behaviors and a low correlation may therefore be uninformative. Similarly, significant correlations would not be very informative. Using two assessment points, before and after treatment, is not sufficient to establish a mechanism of action. As proper meditational analysis requires more sophisticated methods, we have focused on presenting relevant outcome data together with the theory underlying the treatments. We have, however, collected weekly measures of the VSI and GSRS-IBS in study V and plan to analyze these data to investigate putative mechanisms of action.

In these studies, we deliberately used a minimal set of interventions. We did not include cognitive restructuring or specifically target other likely sources of stress in IBS, such as anxiety, depression, interpersonal relationships, perfectionistic behavior, or daily stressors at home or at work. We wanted to contrast our treatment with multicomponent treatments and target only one hypothesized mechanism. Many other psychological treatments, maybe with the exception of hypnotherapy, have targeted so many putative mechanisms that it is difficult to determine what mechanisms are at play and which are most important. By targeting one mechanism in a manualized minimal contact treatment, we have obtained a 50% treatment response. In light of this, I believe that our studies make an important theoretical and conceptual contribution to the IBS research. IBS can be conceptualized in several different ways. From a diagnostic perspective, IBS is the presence of altered bowel habits and abdominal pain or discomfort in the absence of structural lesions (1, 2). From a pathophysiological perspective, IBS is a disorder characterized by motor abnormalities, sensory dysfunction, and nervous system dysregulation (207). From a biopsychosocial perspective, IBS is an organic disorder modulated by psychosocial factors, which can predispose, precipitate, and perpetuate the disorder and affect its clinical manifestation and outcome (208). From a cognitive perspective, IBS is a dysfunctional cognitive style that leads to negative interpretations of bodily symptoms, oneself, and the world, causing stress and IBS symptoms (122, 126, 130). I would like to add a functional perspective to these conceptualizations. From this perspective, IBS can be understood as a disorder characterized by GI symptoms and learned behavioral¹, cognitive, and emotional responses to these symptoms and related stimuli. These learned responses, e.g. fear of symptoms, avoidance and control behaviors, and helpseeking behaviors, are self-perpetuating. In other words, IBS is a process of experiential avoidance where the avoided stimuli are related to GI symptoms. Whether this conceptualization of IBS is better than any other conceptualization is an empirical question. According to the "pragmatic truth criterion" (209), a

 $^{^{1}}$ Strictly speaking the overt behavioral part of the response should be denoted "motor", since the cognitive and emotional responses are also learned behaviors.

conceptualization that leads to a desired outcome is a correct conceptualization. Following this criterion, there may be some truth to our conceptualization, since a treatment based on it has led many IBS patients to report less suffering (which is our desired outcome).

Still, with a 50% treatment response rate there is need for further research on how the remaining 50% can be helped. Participants in study I (group treatment) showed larger improvements in quality of life and GI symptom-specific anxiety than participants in the other studies did. Maybe some patients need individualized treatments because of unusual behavioral patterns or inability to work independently with the treatment. Continued face-to-face work with IBS patients may also feed clinical experience into the ICBT manuals, making them applicable to more patients. The conceptualization may also have to be broadened and include other sources of stress than experiential avoidance. In the Background, it was stated that there is mixed support for multicomponent CBT. However, the minimal contact multicomponent CBT interventions that were published between 2008 and 2010 (145-147, 176) all show sizeable effects on IBS symptoms. Both Lackner et al. (145) and Moss-Morris et al. (147) emphasized that the CBT protocols in their studies were based on empirical and clinical observations, perhaps explaining their success. If future studies, preferably using credible control conditions, show similar effects it should be investigated which interventions in these protocols are effective. Perhaps adding cognitive restructuring as a therapeutic tool would enhance the effectiveness of our treatment. Indeed, the imaging study by Lackner et al. indicated that cognitive restructuring decreases fear of and vigilance towards IBS symptoms (97). Targeting other sources of stress, such as depression, anxiety, daily stressors, or interpersonal relationships could also be a valuable addition.

What should the treatment be called? It is important to point out it is not acceptance and commitment therapy or mindfulness-based cognitive therapy, or any other defined treatment within the third wave of CBT. Compared to our treatment, ACT is much less focused on symptom relief (209) and mindfulnessbased cognitive therapy and the mindfulness-based stress reduction program contain at least 4-5 times more training in mindfulness (160). In the papers, the treatment has been called "exposure and mindfulness-based therapy", "CBT based on exposure and mindfulness", "exposure treatment", and "exposurebased CBT". Clearly, we have found it difficult to find one name for the treatment. In this thesis, it has been referred to as "exposure-based CBT". I, now, believe that this is the best title. Traditional CBT includes homework, discussions about cognitions, treatment goals, behavior change, structuring of the treatment, focus on the current life situation, explicit advice and guidance, and a treatment rationale (210). All these elements are present in our treatment. However, the treatment does not contain cognitive restructuring but is focused on exposure exercises, separating it from many other CBT protocols. This deserves to be stated in the name. But having "mindfulness" in the title placed

the treatment under the "mindfulness meditation" heading in a recent review of psychological treatments for IBS (208). In the end, the best description of a treatment is not given by its name but by explaining the theoretical basis for it and the actual interventions that are used. I believe this is provided in this thesis.

4.3 LIMITATIONS

Important methodological limitations of the individual studies are highlighted in the previous section. However, some issues regarding generalizability remain. First, as seen in Table 1, 64%-74% of the ICBT patients had studied at university. In the Swedish population, 32% between the age of 25 and 64 have a university degree (211). As discussed in the background of the thesis, ICBT requires the patient to be able to work independently and apply the treatment model to his or her behavioral pattern. Suitability for ICBT and level of education may therefore be correlated. Second, most IBS patients are diagnosed and treated in primary care (212). As we have not had primary care as recruitment base we do not know if our results can be generalized to the larger IBS population. Finally, diagnostic criteria have been developed to aid in positive diagnosis and research, but do not define IBS. IBS is the presence of symptoms in the lower gastrointestinal tract, primarily abdominal pain or discomfort, constipation, and/or diarrhea, which cannot be explained by any structural lesions (1, 2). Many patients who identify themselves as having IBS do not fulfill diagnostic criteria (16), the agreement between a clinical diagnosis and a criteria-based diagnosis of IBS is low (213), and clinical guidelines have stated that the Rome criteria are too narrow for primary care (214). All these limitations point in one direction. Exposure-based ICBT should be evaluated for patients with representative educational levels that have been diagnosed in primary care.

5. Conclusions

An aim of the thesis was to investigate the overall effectiveness and usefulness of exposure-based CBT for IBS. The studies included in the thesis show that the treatment is effective in group and delivered via the internet. It targets symptoms, fear of symptoms, and related avoidance behaviors, quality of life, and also comorbid psychiatric problems. It has specific short- and long-term effects and is useful for referred, self-selected, and tertiary care IBS patients. Further analyses have also shown that it is associated with societal cost reductions.

My hope is that this thesis will contribute to the understanding and future treatment of irritable bowel syndrome.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am indebted to so many.

Professor Gerhard Andersson, my main supervisor. Thank you for supporting me when I just wanted to do *one more study*. You have for sure fulfilled your duties as main supervisor. You provided me with a haven down in Linköping when I needed time to write and think. There has never been a scarcity of guidance, praise, or empathy.

Professor Nils Lindefors, my co-supervisor. You started this project. Without your determination there would not have been any studies of ICBT for IBS. Although you have had the tough responsibility to sometimes say no, you have always known when to say *yes*. Thank you for having been so unbelievably important in my professional development during the last 6 years.

Christian Rück, my co-supervisor. You have so firmly believed in me that it has been impossible for me not to believe in myself. Thank you for inviting me for beer and sausages – and for never being afraid to speak your mind – and writing the moneymaking ALF application with me.

Erik Hedman. my co-conspirator. Thank you for being an integral part of all my research projects, my thinking about IBS and CBT, treating the patients, writing the patient manuals, the scientific writing, and my process of becoming a researcher. Thank you for letting me be a part of your process.

Lisa Falk, my sister. I am so happy to have been your friend, supervisor, and colleague through all these years. Thank you for writing your master's thesis on the second study, since then you have become a true IBS psychologist. I am now learning from you.

Pelle Lindfors, my brother. I don't know what I did that made you believe in my and this project. But it must have been something. Thank you for opening doors for me that I would never have been able to open myself.

Erik Andersson, my inspiration. Thank you for always saying yes when I asked you to help out in the studies, you have been invaluable. Please, never stop calling me whenever you need help, feedback, or just a discussion partner.

Liselotte Jansson, my roomie. Thank you for reading the whole manual and pointing out how little I know about learning theory. Working in an office will never be the same without you – what if I get a roomie who doesn't like my music?

Sara Rydh, my proofreader. Thank you for *every little aspect* of your work with the last study. It would have *crashed and burned* if it had not been for you. You too have become an elite IBS psychologist.

Robert Johansson, my comrade. Thank you for our focus mornings, days, evenings, and nights. They made all the difference.

Jan Bergström. Thank you for letting me be a part of the IP2 study and being my first fellow doctoral student. I am hoping for more endless discussions about human sexuality and behaviorism.

Sergej Andréewitch. Thank you for hiring me back in 2005 and being an important part in the conceiving of this project and working with me on the studies.

Timo Hursti. Thank you for letting me help you supervise all the masters' thesis that these studies have produced. I have learned a lot. Johanna Norén, Karin Grönberg, Amanda Wibron Vesterlund, Katarina Linder, Karin Romberg, Johannes Samuelsson, Karin Edh, Samuel Sehlberg, Viktor Lindén, Anita Elgemark, and Malin Ander. Thank you for your excellent work as online therapists and interviewers in the studies and for letting me be your supervisor. I am forever grateful for all the time you spent helping the participants in the studies and evaluating the treatment.

Hugo Hesser. Thank you for trying to explain linear mixed models, a.k.a. random coefficients modeling and multilevel modeling, and calling me mad. *NT Månsson*. Thank you for being my only son and always referring to my research. Keep doing it.

Charlotta Hector. Thank you for being my co-therapist in the first IBS group. It felt like we cured 100% of the patients in that group. Lars Kjellström, Tom Lindfors, and Arnold Söderlind. Thank you for helping out with the consecutive recruitment. I think we should do it again – what do you say? Anne-Christine Fredman, Carl Granfors, Karin Hyland, and Erik Nilsson. Thank you all for participating in the psychiatric screening of the patients. Björn Paxling. Thank you for the help with the cost-effectiveness article and for always smiling when you see me. Professor Filip Smit. Thank you for the excellent scientific and writing advice on the cost-effectiveness article.

Monica Hellberg. Thank you for doing all the things that I should have done myself and not being too mad at me when I didn't do them. Marita Signarsson. Thank you for all your help with all things that you have helped me with. Marianne Youssefi. Thank you for answering all my emails. Bob Harris. Thank you for accepting my application to the PhD program. Ola Olén and Jussi Jokkinen. Thank you for not flunking me, although I was always late.

Professor Ata Ghaderi and *Professor Per Carlbring*. Thank you for supervising my master's thesis and our continued cooperation. Both of you are great sources of inspiration for me. *Sandra Bates* and *Andreas Karlsson*. Thank you for the supervision when I was taking my baby steps as a psychologist. I learned a lot from you.

Susanna Jernelöv and *Viktor Kaldo*. Thank you for letting me participate in the insomnia study. I am still waiting for the article.

Kristoffer Edlund, Niklas Grebäck, and Martin Winbo. Thank you guys for the great times we had trying to figure out what psychological treatment is really all about. JoAnne Dahl. Thank you for helping us figure it out. Mats Jeansson. Thank you for participating in the figuring out while doing your best to pretend you weren't there. Peter Johansson. Thank you for our endless discussions about human behavior. You have really made me see other sides of the matter.

My colleagues at Sabbatsbergs sjukhus. Thank you for taking me to Barcelona, London, München, Reykjavík. I am looking forward to the stars.

My dear friends and colleagues at Internetpsykiatrienheten and Mottagningen för tvångssyndrom. I love you all. I will miss you so much. You have made all work and no play a joy. Thank you.

Gunnar Jóhannesson. Takk fyrir góðar móttökur og gott spjall. Eyja Líf Sævarsdóttir. Thank you for being my Icelandic fan.

Peter Csatlós. Thanks for the pictures. What do they mean?

Karolinska Institutet, the Stockholm City Council, the Stockholm Centre for Psychiatry Research, Linköping University, the Söderström-Königska Foundation, and the Bror Gadelius Foundation. For funding and supporting this research.

Jeff Lackner, Gunilla Berglund, Jerker Hetta, and *Henry Nyhlin*. Thank you for taking the time to review my work.

Everyone who participated in the studies.

My dear friends and my mother, my father, and my brother. I depend on you.

Brjánn Ljótsson. You the man.

7. REFERENCES

- 1. Manning AP, Thompson WG, Heaton KW, Morris AF. Towards positive diagnosis of the irritable bowel. BMJ. 1978;2:653-4.
- 2. Ford AC, Talley NJ, Veldhuyzen van Zanten SJO, Vakil NB, Simel DL, Moayyedi P. Will the history and physical examination help establish that irritable bowel syndrome is causing this patient's lower gastrointestinal tract symptoms? JAMA. 2008:300:1793-805.
- 3. Spiegel BM, Farid M, Esrailian E, Talley J, Chang L. Is irritable bowel syndrome a diagnosis of exclusion?: a survey of primary care providers, gastroenterologists, and IBS experts. Am J Gastroenterol. 2010;105:848-58.
- 4. Cash BD, Schoenfeld P, Chey WD. The utility of diagnostic tests in irritable bowel syndrome patients: a systematic review. Am J Gastroenterol. 2002;97:2812-9.
- 5. Morini S, Hassan C, Meucci G, Toldi A, Zullo A, Minoli G. Diagnostic yield of open access colonoscopy according to appropriateness. Gastrointest Endosc. 2001;54:175-9.
- 6. Kruis W, Thieme C, Weinzierl M, Schüssler P, Holl J, Paulus W. A diagnostic score for the irritable bowel syndrome. Its value in the exclusion of organic disease. Gastroenterology. 1984;87:1-7.
- 7. Lacy BE, Lee RD. Irritable bowel syndrome: a syndrome in evolution. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2005;39:S230-42.
- 8. Klein KB. Controlled treatment trials in the irritable bowel syndrome: a critique. Gastroenterology. 1988;95:232-41.
- 9. Thompson WG. The road to rome. Gastroenterology. 2006;130:1552-6.
- 10. Thompson WG, Creed F, Drossman DA, Heaton KW, Mazzacca G. Functional bowel disease and functional abdominal pain. Gastroenterology International. 1992;5:75-91.
- 11. Thompson WG, Longstreth GF, Drossman DA, Heaton KW, Irvine EJ, Muller-Lissner SA. Functional bowel disorders and functional abdominal pain. Gut. 1999;45 Suppl 2:II43-7.
- 12. Longstreth GF, Thompson WG, Chey WD, Houghton LA, Mearin F, Spiller RC. Functional bowel disorders. Gastroenterology. 2006;130:1480-91.
- 13. Bommelaer G, Poynard T, Le Pen C, Gaudin A-F, Maurel F, Priol G, et al. Prevalence of irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) and variability of diagnostic criteria. Gastroenterol Clin Biol. 2004;28:554-61.
- 14. Olafsdottir LB, Gudjonsson H, Jonsdottir HH, Thjodleifsson B. Stability of the irritable bowel syndrome and subgroups as measured by three diagnostic criteria a 10-year follow-up study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2010.
- 15. Choung RS, Locke GR. Epidemiology of IBS. Gastroenterol Clin North Am. 2011;40:1-10.
- 16. Hahn BA, Saunders WB, Maier WC. Differences between individuals with self-reported irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) and IBS-like symptoms. Dig Dis Sci. 1997;42:2585-90.
- 17. Spiller R, Aziz Q, Creed F, Emmanuel A, Houghton L, Hungin P, et al. Guidelines on the irritable bowel syndrome: mechanisms and practical management. Gut. 2007;56:1770-98.
- 18. Drossman DA, Li Z, Andruzzi E, Temple RD, Talley NJ, Thompson WG, et al. U.S. householder survey of functional gastrointestinal disorders. Prevalence, sociodemography, and health impact. Dig Dis Sci. 1993;38:1569-80.

- 19. Kumano H, Kaiya H, Yoshiuchi K, Yamanaka G, Sasaki T, Kuboki T. Comorbidity of irritable bowel syndrome, panic disorder, and agoraphobia in a Japanese representative sample. Am J Gastroenterol. 2004;99:370-6.
- 20. Ford AC, Forman D, Bailey AG, Axon AT, Moayyedi P. Irritable bowel syndrome: a 10-yr natural history of symptoms and factors that influence consultation behavior. Am J Gastroenterol. 2008;103:1229-39; quiz 40.
- 21. Agréus L, Svärdsudd K, Talley NJ, Jones MP, Tibblin G. Natural history of gastroesophageal reflux disease and functional abdominal disorders: a population-based study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2001;96:2905-14.
- 22. Halder SL, Locke GR, 3rd, Schleck CD, Zinsmeister AR, Melton LJ, 3rd, Talley NJ. Natural history of functional gastrointestinal disorders: a 12-year longitudinal population-based study. Gastroenterology. 2007;133:799-807.
- 23. Chang JY, Locke GR, McNally MA, Halder SL, Schleck CD, Zinsmeister AR, et al. Impact of functional gastrointestinal disorders on survival in the community. Am J Gastroenterol. 2010;105:822-32.
- 24. Owens DM, Nelson DK, Talley NJ. The irritable bowel syndrome: long-term prognosis and the physician-patient interaction. Ann Intern Med. 1995;122:107-12.
- 25. Testa MA, Simonson DC. Assesment of quality-of-life outcomes. N Engl J Med. 1996;334:835-40.
- 26. El-Serag HB, Olden K, Bjorkman D. Health-related quality of life among persons with irritable bowel syndrome: a systematic review. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2002;16:1171-85.
- 27. Dean BB, Aguilar D, Barghout V, Kahler KH, Frech F, Groves D, et al. Impairment in work productivity and health-related quality of life in patients with IBS. Am J Manag Care. 2005;11:S17-26.
- 28. Talley NJ, Gabriel SE, Harmsen WS, Zinsmeister AR, Evans RW. Medical costs in community subjects with irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology. 1995;109:1736-41.
- 29. Longstreth GF, Wilson A, Knight K, Wong J, Chiou C-F, Barghout V, et al. Irritable bowel syndrome, health care use, and costs: a U.S. managed care perspective. Am J Gastroenterol. 2003;98:600-7.
- 30. Nyrop KA, Palsson OS, Levy RL, Korff MV, Feld AD, Turner MJ, et al. Costs of health care for irritable bowel syndrome, chronic constipation, functional diarrhoea and functional abdominal pain. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2007;26:237-48.
- 31. Hillila MT, Farkkila NJ, Farkkila MA. Societal costs for irritable bowel syndrome--a population based study. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2010;45:582-91.
- 32. Brandt LJ, Chey WD, Foxx-Orenstein AE, Schiller LR, Schoenfeld PS, Spiegel BM, et al. An evidence-based position statement on the management of irritable bowel syndrome. Am J Gastroenterol. 2009;104 Suppl 1:S1-35.
- 33. Camilleri M, Chey WY, Mayer EA, Northcutt AR, Heath A, Dukes GE, et al. A randomized controlled clinical trial of the serotonin type 3 receptor antagonist alosetron in women with diarrhea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome. Arch Intern Med. 2001;161:1733-40.
- 34. Camilleri M, Northcutt A, Kong S, Dukes G, McSorley D, Mangel A. Efficacy and safety of alosetron in women with irritable bowel syndrome: a randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet. 2000;355:1035-40.
- 35. Chang L, Ameen VZ, Dukes GE, McSorley DJ, Carter EG, Mayer EA. A dose-ranging, phase II study of the efficacy and safety of alosetron in men with diarrheapredominant IBS. Am J Gastroenterol. 2005;100:115-23.
- 36. Lembo T, Wright RA, Bagby B, Decker C, Gordon S, Jhingran P, et al. Alosetron controls bowel urgency and provides global symptom improvement in women

- with diarrhea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome. Am J Gastroenterol. 2001;96:2662-70.
- 37. Novick J, Miner P, Krause R, Glebas K, Bliesath H, Ligozio G, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of tegaserod in female patients suffering from irritable bowel syndrome with constipation. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2002;16:1877-88.
- 38. Vahedi H, Merat S, Rashidioon A, Ghoddoosi A, Malekzadeh R. The effect of fluoxetine in patients with pain and constipation-predominant irritable bowel syndrome: a double-blind randomized-controlled study. Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics. 2005;22:381-5.
- 39. Chey WD, Saad RJ, Panas RM, Wahle A, Ueno R. M1706 Discontinuation of Lubiprostone Treatment for Irritable Bowel Syndrome with Constipation Is Not Associated with Symptom Increase or Recurrence: Results from a Randomized Withdrawal Study. Gastroenterology. 2008;134:A-401.
- 40. Pimentel M, Lembo A, Chey WD, Zakko S, Ringel Y, Yu J, et al. Rifaximin therapy for patients with irritable bowel syndrome without constipation. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:22-32.
- 41. Gunnarsson J, Simren M. Peripheral factors in the pathophysiology of irritable bowel syndrome. Dig Liver Dis. 2009;41:788-93.
- 42. Almy TP, Tulin M. Alterations in colonic function in man under stress; experimental production of changes simulating the irritable colon. Gastroenterology. 1947;8:616-26.
- 43. Almy TP, Kern F, Jr., Tulin M. Alterations in colonic function in man under stress. II: experimental production of sigmoid spasm in healthy persons. Gastroenterology. 1949;12:425-36.
- 44. Almy TP, Hinkle LE, Jr., Berle B, Kern F, Jr. Alterations in colonic function in man under stress. III: experimental production of sigmoid spasm in patients with spastic constipation. Gastroenterology. 1949;12:437-49.
- 45. Almy TP, Abbot FK, Hinkle LE, Jr. Alterations in colonic function in man under stress. IV: hypomotility of the sigmoid colon, and its relationship to the mechanism of functional diarrhea. Gastroenterology. 1950;15:95-103.
- 46. Cann PA, Read NW, Cammack J, Childs H, Holden S, Kashman R, et al. Psychological stress and the passage of a standard meal through the stomach and small intestine in man. Gut. 1983;24:236-40.
- 47. Welgan P, Meshkinpour H, Hoehler F. The effect of stress on colon motor and electrical activity in irritable bowel syndrome. Psychosom Med. 1985;47:139-49.
- 48. Narducci F, Snape WJ, Battle WM, London RL, Cohen S. Increased colonic motility during exposure to a stressful situation. Dig Dis Sci. 1985;30:40-4.
- 49. Thompson DG, Richelson E, Malagelada JR. Perturbation of gastric emptying and duodenal motility through the central nervous system. Gastroenterology. 1982:83:1200-6.
- 50. Thompson DG, Richelson E, Malagelada JR. Perturbation of upper gastrointestinal function by cold stress. Gut. 1983;24:277-83.
- 51. Dickhaus B, Mayer EA, Firooz N, Stains J, Conde F, Olivas TI, et al. Irritable bowel syndrome patients show enhanced modulation of visceral perception by auditory stress. Am J Gastroenterol. 2003;98:135-43.
- 52. Murray CDR, Flynn J, Ratcliffe L, Jacyna MR, Kamm MA, Emmanuel AV. Effect of acute physical and psychological stress on gut autonomic innervation in irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology. 2004;127:1695-703.

- 53. Chang L, Lee OY, Naliboff B, Schmulson M, Mayer EA. Sensation of bloating and visible abdominal distension in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. Am J Gastroenterol. 2001;96:3341-7.
- 54. Accarino A, Perez F, Azpiroz F, Quiroga S, Malagelada J-R. Intestinal gas and bloating: effect of prokinetic stimulation. Am J Gastroenterol. 2008;103:2036-42.
- 55. Spiller R. New insights into bloating and abdominal distension: is it all outlet obstruction? Am J Gastroenterol. 2010;105:888-9.
- 56. Agrawal A, Houghton LA, Reilly B, Morris J, Whorwell PJ. Bloating and distension in irritable bowel syndrome: the role of gastrointestinal transit. Am J Gastroenterol. 2009;104:1998-2004.
- 57. Shim L, Prott G, Hansen RD, Simmons LE, Kellow JE, Malcolm A. Prolonged balloon expulsion is predictive of abdominal distension in bloating. Am J Gastroenterol. 2010;105:883-7.
- 58. Serra J, Azpiroz F, Malagelada JR. Impaired transit and tolerance of intestinal gas in the irritable bowel syndrome. Gut. 2001;48:14-9.
- 59. Houghton LA, Lea R, Agrawal A, Agrawal A, Reilly B, Whorwell PJ. Relationship of abdominal bloating to distention in irritable bowel syndrome and effect of bowel habit. Gastroenterology. 2006;131:1003-10.
- 60. Agrawal A, Houghton LA, Lea R, Morris J, Reilly B, Whorwell PJ. Bloating and distention in irritable bowel syndrome: the role of visceral sensation. Gastroenterology. 2008;134:1882-9.
- 61. Di Stefano M, Tana P, Mengoli C, Miceli E, Pagani E, Corazza GR. Colonic hypersensitivity is a major determinant of the efficacy of bloating treatment in constipation-predominant irritable bowel syndrome. Intern Emerg Med. 2010.
- 62. Mayer EA, Naliboff BD, Chang L, Coutinho SV. Stress and the Gastrointestinal Tract V. Stress and irritable bowel syndrome. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2001;280:G519-24.
- 63. Suls J, Wan CK, Blanchard EB. A multilevel data-analytic approach for evaluation of relationships between daily life stressors and symptomatology: patients with irritable bowel syndrome. Health Psychol. 1994;13:103-13.
- 64. Dancey CP, Whitehouse A, Painter J, Backhouse S. The relationship between hassles, uplifts and irritable bowel syndrome: a preliminary study. J Psychosom Res. 1995;39:827-32.
- 65. Levy RL, Cain KC, Jarrett M, Heitkemper MM. The relationship between daily life stress and gastrointestinal symptoms in women with irritable bowel syndrome. J Behav Med. 1997;20:177-93.
- 66. Dancey CP, Taghavi M, Fox RJ. The relationship between daily stress and symptoms of irritable bowel: a time-series approach. J Psychosom Res. 1998:44:537-45.
- 67. Blanchard EB, Lackner JM, Jaccard J, Rowell D, Carosella AM, Powell C, et al. The role of stress in symptom exacerbation among IBS patients. J Psychosom Res. 2008;64:119-28.
- 68. Whitehead WE, Palsson OS, Levy RR, Feld AD, Turner M, Von Korff M. Comorbidity in irritable bowel syndrome. Am J Gastroenterol. 2007;102:2767-76.
- 69. Lee S, Wu J, Ma YL, Tsang A, Guo WJ, Sung J. Irritable bowel syndrome is strongly associated with generalized anxiety disorder: a community study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2009;30:643-51.
- 70. Drossman DA, McKee DC, Sandler RS, Mitchell CM, Cramer EM, Lowman BC, et al. Psychosocial factors in the irritable bowel syndrome. A multivariate study of patients and nonpatients with irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology. 1988;95:701-8.

- 71. Choung RS, Locke GR, 3rd, Zinsmeister AR, Schleck CD, Talley NJ. Psychosocial distress and somatic symptoms in community subjects with irritable bowel syndrome: a psychological component is the rule. Am J Gastroenterol. 2009;104:1772-9.
- 72. Österberg E, Blomquist L, Krakau I, Weinryb RM, Åsberg M, Hultcrantz R. A population study on irritable bowel syndrome and mental health. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2000;35:264-8.
- 73. Mykletun A, Jacka F, Williams L, Pasco J, Henry M, Nicholson GC, et al. Prevalence of mood and anxiety disorder in self reported irritable bowel syndrome (IBS). An epidemiological population based study of women. BMC Gastroenterol. 2010;10:88.
- 74. Lembo AJ, Zaman M, Krueger RF, Tomenson BM, Creed FH. Psychiatric disorder, irritable bowel syndrome, and extra-intestinal symptoms in a population-based sample of twins. Am J Gastroenterol. 2009;104:686-94.
- 75. Gros DF, Antony MM, McCabe RE, Swinson RP. Frequency and severity of the symptoms of irritable bowel syndrome across the anxiety disorders and depression. J Anxiety Disord. 2009;23:290-6.
- 76. Masand PS, Keuthen NJ, Gupta S, Virk S, Yu-Siao B, Kaplan D. Prevalence of irritable bowel syndrome in obsessive-compulsive disorder. CNS Spectr. 2006:11:21-5.
- 77. Toner BB, Koyama E, Garfinkel PE, Jeejeebhoy KN, Di Gasbarro I. Social desirability and irritable bowel syndrome. Int J Psychiatry Med. 1992;22:99-103.
- 78. Lackner JM, Gurtman MB. Patterns of interpersonal problems in irritable bowel syndrome patients: a circumplex analysis. J Psychosom Res. 2005;58:523-32.
- 79. Locke GR, Weaver AL, Melton LJ, Talley NJ. Psychosocial factors are linked to functional gastrointestinal disorders: a population based nested case-control study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2004;99:350-7.
- 80. Lackner JM, Gellman R, Gudleski G, Sanders K, Krasner S, Katz L, et al. Dysfunctional Attitudes, Gender, and Psychopathology as Predictors of Pain Affect in Patients With Irritable Bowel Syndrome. J Cognit Psychother. 2005;19:151-61.
- 81. Keefer L, Sanders K, Sykes MA, Blanchard EB, Lackner JM, Krasner S. Towards A Better Understanding of Anxiety in Irritable Bowel Syndrome: A Preliminary Look at Worry and Intolerance of Uncertainty. J Cognit Psychother. 2005;19:163-72.
- 82. De Gucht V, Heiser BFW. Job stress, personality, and psychological distress as determinants of somatization and functional somatic syndromes in a population of nurses. Stress Health. 2003;19:195-204.
- 83. Mayer EA, Craske M, Naliboff BD. Depression, anxiety, and the gastrointestinal system. J Clin Psychiatry. 2001;62 Suppl 8:28-36; discussion 7.
- 84. Bradley B, Mogg K, Millar N, Bonham-Carter C, Fergusson E, Jenkins J, et al. Attentional Biases for Emotional Faces. Cognition & Emotion. 1997;11:25-42.
- 85. Armony JL, Dolan RJ. Modulation of spatial attention by fear-conditioned stimuli: an event-related fMRI study. Neuropsychologia. 2002;40:817-26.
- 86. Chapman S, Martin M. Attention to pain words in irritable bowel syndrome: Increased orienting and speeded engagement. Br J Health Psychol. 2010.
- 87. Gibbs-Gallagher N, Palsson OS, Levy RL, Meyer K, Drossman DA, Whitehead WE. Selective recall of gastrointestinal-sensation words: evidence for a cognitive-behavioral contribution to irritable bowel syndrome. Am J Gastroenterol. 2001;96:1133-8.
- 88. Posserud I, Svedlund J, Wallin J, Simren M. Hypervigilance in irritable bowel syndrome compared with organic gastrointestinal disease. J Psychosom Res. 2009;66:399-405.

- 89. Afzal M, Potokar JP, Probert CS, Munafo MR. Selective processing of gastrointestinal symptom-related stimuli in irritable bowel syndrome. Psychosom Med. 2006;68:758-61.
- 90. Keough ME, Timpano KR, Zawilinski LL, Schmidt NB. The association between Irritable Bowel Syndrome and the anxiety vulnerability factors: Body vigilance and discomfort intolerance. J Health Psychol. 2010.
- 91. Lackner JM, Quigley BM, Blanchard EB. Depression and abdominal pain in IBS patients: the mediating role of catastrophizing. Psychosom Med. 2004;66:435-41.
- 92. Lackner JM, Quigley BM. Pain catastrophizing mediates the relationship between worry and pain suffering in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. Behav Res Ther. 2005;43:943-57.
- 93. Mertz H, Morgan V, Tanner G, Pickens D, Price R, Shyr Y, et al. Regional cerebral activation in irritable bowel syndrome and control subjects with painful and nonpainful rectal distention. Gastroenterology. 2000;118:842-8.
- 94. Naliboff BD, Derbyshire SW, Munakata J, Berman S, Mandelkern M, Chang L, et al. Cerebral activation in patients with irritable bowel syndrome and control subjects during rectosigmoid stimulation. Psychosom Med. 2001;63:365-75.
- 95. Price DD. Psychological and neural mechanisms of the affective dimension of pain. Science. 2000;288:1769-72.
- 96. Naliboff BD, Berman S, Suyenobu B, Labus JS, Chang L, Stains J, et al. Longitudinal change in perceptual and brain activation response to visceral stimuli in irritable bowel syndrome patients. Gastroenterology. 2006;131:352-65.
- 97. Lackner JM, Lou Coad M, Mertz HR, Wack DS, Katz LA, Krasner SS, et al. Cognitive therapy for irritable bowel syndrome is associated with reduced limbic activity, GI symptoms, and anxiety. Behav Res Ther. 2006;44:621-38.
- 98. Mogg K, Mathews A, Bird C, Macgregor-Morris R. Effects of stress and anxiety on the processing of threat stimuli. J Pers Soc Psychol. 1990;59:1230-7.
- 99. Simrén M, Abrahamsson H, Bosaeus I, Brummer RJ, Dolk A, Lindberg G, et al. Nutritional aspects in patients with functional gastrointestinal disorders and motor dysfunction in the gut. Working team report of the Swedish Motility Group (SMoG). Dig Liver Dis. 2007;39:495-504.
- 100. Hazlett-Stevens H, Craske MG, Mayer EA, Chang L, Naliboff BD. Prevalence of irritable bowel syndrome among university students: the roles of worry, neuroticism, anxiety sensitivity and visceral anxiety. J Psychosom Res. 2003;55:501-5.
- 101. Reme SE, Kennedy T, Jones R, Darnley S, Chalder T. Predictors of treatment outcome after cognitive behavior therapy and antispasmodic treatment for patients with irritable bowel syndrome in primary care. J Psychosom Res. 2010;68:385-8.
- 102. Drossman DA, Whitehead WE, Toner BB, Diamant N, Hu YJ, Bangdiwala SI, et al. What determines severity among patients with painful functional bowel disorders? Am J Gastroenterol. 2000;95:974-80.
- 103. Labus JS, Bolus R, Chang L, Wiklund I, Naesdal J, Mayer EA, et al. The Visceral Sensitivity Index: development and validation of a gastrointestinal symptom-specific anxiety scale. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2004;20:89-97.
- 104. Labus JS, Mayer EA, Chang L, Bolus R, Naliboff BD. The central role of gastrointestinal-specific anxiety in irritable bowel syndrome: further validation of the visceral sensitivity index. Psychosom Med. 2007;69:89-98.
- 105. Jerndal P, Ringstrom G, Agerforz P, Karpefors M, Akkermans LM, Bayati A, et al. Gastrointestinal-specific anxiety: an important factor for severity of GI symptoms and quality of life in IBS. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2010;22:646-e179.

- 106. Svedlund J, Sjodin I, Ottosson JO, Dotevall G. Controlled study of psychotherapy in irritable bowel syndrome. Lancet. 1983;2:589-92.
- 107. Karasu TB. Psychotherapy of the psychosomatic patient. Am J Psychother. 1979;33:354-64.
- 108. Guthrie E, Creed F, Dawson D, Tomenson B. A controlled trial of psychological treatment for the irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology. 1991;100:450-7.
- 109. Creed F, Fernandes L, Guthrie E, Palmer S, Ratcliffe J, Read N, et al. The cost-effectiveness of psychotherapy and paroxetine for severe irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology. 2003;124:303-17.
- 110. Gonsalkorale WM. Gut-directed hypnotherapy: the Manchester approach for treatment of irritable bowel syndrome. Int J Clin Exp Hypn. 2006;54:27-50.
- 111. Miller V, Whorwell PJ. Hypnotherapy for functional gastrointestinal disorders: a review. Int J Clin Exp Hypn. 2009;57:279-92.
- 112. Gonsalkorale WM, Toner BB, Whorwell PJ. Cognitive change in patients undergoing hypnotherapy for irritable bowel syndrome. J Psychosom Res. 2004;56:271-8.
- 113. Simrén M, Ringstrom G, Bjornsson ES, Abrahamsson H. Treatment with hypnotherapy reduces the sensory and motor component of the gastrocolonic response in irritable bowel syndrome. Psychosom Med. 2004;66:233-8.
- 114. Blanchard EB, Schwarz SP. Adaptation of a multicomponent treatment for irritable bowel syndrome to a small-group format. Biofeedback Self Regul. 1987;12:63-9.
- 115. Neff DF, Blanchard EB. A multi-component treatment for irritable bowel syndrome. Behav Ther. 1987;18:70-83.
- 116. Blanchard EB, Schwarz SP, Neff DF. Two-year follow-up of behavioral treatment of irritable bowel syndrome. Behav Ther. 1988;19:67-73.
- 117. Schwarz SP, Taylor AE, Scharff L, Blanchard EB. Behaviorally treated irritable bowel syndrome patients: a four-year follow-up. Behav Res Ther. 1990;28:331-5.
- 118. Radnitz CL, Blanchard EB. Bowel sound biofeedback as a treatment for irritable bowel syndrome. Biofeedback Self Regul. 1988;13:169-79.
- 119. Blanchard EB, Greene B, Scharff L, Schwarz-McMorris SP. Relaxation training as a treatment for irritable bowel syndrome. Biofeedback Self Regul. 1993;18:125-32.
- 120. Keefer L, Blanchard EB. The effects of relaxation response meditation on the symptoms of irritable bowel syndrome: results of a controlled treatment study. Behav Res Ther. 2001;39:801-11.
- 121. Blanchard EB, Schwarz SP, Suls JM, Gerardi MA, Scharff L, Greene B, et al. Two controlled evaluations of multicomponent psychological treatment of irritable bowel syndrome. Behav Res Ther. 1992;30:175-89.
- 122. Greene B, Blanchard EB. Cognitive therapy for irritable bowel syndrome. J Consult Clin Psychol. 1994;62:576-82.
- 123. Payne A, Blanchard EB. A controlled comparison of cognitive therapy and self-help support groups in the treatment of irritable bowel syndrome. J Consult Clin Psychol. 1995;63:779-86.
- 124. Vollmer A, Blanchard EB. Controlled comparison of individual versus group cognitive therapy for irritable bowel syndrome. Behav Ther. 1998;29:19-33.
- 125. Blanchard EB, Lackner JM, Sanders K, Krasner S, Keefer L, Payne A, et al. A controlled evaluation of group cognitive therapy in the treatment of irritable bowel syndrome. Behav Res Ther. 2007;45:633-48.
- 126. Toner BB, Segal ZV, Emmott S, Myran D, Ali A, DiGasbarro I, et al. Cognitive-behavioral group therapy for patients with irritable bowel syndrome. Int J Group Psychother. 1998;48:215-43.

- 127. Sharpe M, Peveler R, Mayou R. The psychological treatment of patients with functional somatic symptoms: a practical guide. J Psychosom Res. 1992;36:515-29.
- 128. Toner BB. Cognitive-behavioral treatment of functional somatic syndromes: Integrating gender issues. Cognit Behav Pract. 1994;1:157-78.
- 129. Drossman DA, Toner BB, Whitehead WE, Diamant NE, Dalton CB, Duncan S, et al. Cognitive-behavioral therapy versus education and desipramine versus placebo for moderate to severe functional bowel disorders. Gastroenterology. 2003;125:19-31.
- 130. Boyce PM, Gilchrist J, Talley NJ, Rose D. Cognitive-behaviour therapy as a treatment for irritable bowel syndrome: A pilot study. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2000;34:300-9.
- 131. Boyce PM, Talley NJ, Balaam B, Koloski NA, Truman G. A randomized controlled trial of cognitive behavior therapy, relaxation training, and routine clinical care for the irritable bowel syndrome. Am J Gastroenterol. 2003;98:2209-18.
- 132. Shaw G, Srivastava ED, Sadlier M, Swann P, James JY, Rhodes J. Stress management for irritable bowel syndrome: a controlled trial. Digestion. 1991;50:36-42.
- 133. Lynch PM, Zamble E. A controlled behavioral treatment study of Irritable Bowel Syndrome. Behav Ther. 1989;20:509-23.
- 134. van Dulmen AM, Fennis JF, Bleijenberg G. Cognitive-behavioral group therapy for irritable bowel syndrome: effects and long-term follow-up. Psychosom Med. 1996;58:508-14.
- 135. Heymann-Mönnikes I, Arnold R, Florin I, Herda C, Melfsen S, Mönnikes H. The combination of medical treatment plus multicomponent behavioral therapy is superior to medical treatment alone in the therapy of irritable bowel syndrome. Am J Gastroenterol. 2000;95:981-94.
- 136. Heitkemper MM, Jarrett ME, Levy RL, Cain KC, Burr RL, Feld A, et al. Self-management for women with irritable bowel syndrome. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2004;2:585-96.
- 137. Corney RH, Stanton R, Newell R, Clare A, Fairclough P. Behavioural psychotherapy in the treatment of irritable bowel syndrome. J Psychosom Res. 1991;35:461-9.
- 138. Tkachuk GA, Graff LA, Martin GL, Bernstein CN. Randomized Controlled Trial of Cognitive–Behavioral Group Therapy for Irritable Bowel Syndrome in a Medical Setting. J Clin Psychol Med Settings. 2003;10:57-69.
- 139. Kennedy T, Jones R, Darnley S, Seed P, Wessely S, Chalder T. Cognitive behaviour therapy in addition to antispasmodic treatment for irritable bowel syndrome in primary care: randomised controlled trial. BMJ. 2005;331:435.
- 140. Lackner JM, Mesmer C, Morley S, Dowzer C, Hamilton S. Psychological treatments for irritable bowel syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Consult Clin Psychol. 2004;72:1100-13.
- 141. Ford AC, Talley NJ, Schoenfeld PS, Quigley EM, Moayyedi P. Efficacy of antidepressants and psychological therapies in irritable bowel syndrome: systematic review and meta-analysis. Gut. 2009;58:367-78.
- 142. Hungin AP. Self-help interventions in irritable bowel syndrome. Gut. 2006;55:603-4.
- 143. Robinson A, Lee V, Kennedy A, Middleton L, Rogers A, Thompson DG, et al. A randomised controlled trial of self-help interventions in patients with a primary care diagnosis of irritable bowel syndrome. Gut. 2006;55:643-8.
- 144. Sanders KA, Blanchard EB, Sykes MA. Preliminary study of a self-administered treatment for irritable bowel syndrome: comparison to a wait list control group. Appl Psychophysiol Biofeedback. 2007;32:111-9.

- 145. Lackner JM, Jaccard J, Krasner SS, Katz LA, Gudleski GD, Holroyd K. Selfadministered cognitive behavior therapy for moderate to severe irritable bowel syndrome: clinical efficacy, tolerability, feasibility. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2008;6:899-906.
- 146. Jarrett ME, Cain KC, Burr RL, Hertig VL, Rosen SN, Heitkemper MM. Comprehensive self-management for irritable bowel syndrome: randomized trial of in-person vs. combined in-person and telephone sessions. Am J Gastroenterol. 2009;104:3004-14.
- 147. Moss-Morris R, McAlpine L, Didsbury LP, Spence MJ. A randomized controlled trial of a cognitive behavioural therapy-based self-management intervention for irritable bowel syndrome in primary care. Psychol Med. 2010;40:85-94.
- 148. Palsson OS, Turner MJ, Whitehead WE. Hypnosis home treatment for irritable bowel syndrome: a pilot study. Int J Clin Exp Hypn. 2006;54:85-99.
- 149. Hayes SC, Wilson KG, Gifford EV, Follette VM, Strosahl K. Experiential avoidance and behavioral disorders: a functional dimensional approach to diagnosis and treatment. J Consult Clin Psychol. 1996;64:1152-68.
- 150. Clark DM, Ehlers A. An overview of the cognitive theory and treatment of panic disorder. Appl Prev Psychol. 1993;2:131-9.
- 151. Borkovec TD, Costello E. Efficacy of applied relaxation and cognitive-behavioral therapy in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder. J Consult Clin Psychol. 1993;61:611-9.
- 152. Jacobson NS, Dobson KS, Truax PA, Addis ME, Koerner K, Gollan JK, et al. A component analysis of cognitive-behavioral treatment for depression. J Consult Clin Psychol. 1996;64:295-304.
- 153. Whitehead WE, Palsson O, Jones KR. Systematic review of the comorbidity of irritable bowel syndrome with other disorders: what are the causes and implications? Gastroenterology. 2002;122:1140-56.
- 154. Asmundson GJ, Norton PJ, Norton GR. Beyond pain: the role of fear and avoidance in chronicity. Clin Psychol Rev. 1999;19:97-119.
- 155. Hayes SC. Acceptance and commitment therapy, relational frame theory, and the third wave of behavioral and cognitive therapies. Behav Ther. 2004;35:639-65.
- 156. Lynch TR, Chapman AL, Rosenthal MZ, Kuo JR, Linehan MM. Mechanisms of change in dialectical behavior therapy: theoretical and empirical observations. J Clin Psychol. 2006;62:459-80.
- 157. Baer RA. Self-Focused Attention and Mechanisms of Change in Mindfulness-Based Treatment. Cogn Behav Ther. 2009:1.
- 158. Kabat-Zinn J. An outpatient program in behavioral medicine for chronic pain patients based on the practice of mindfulness meditation: theoretical considerations and preliminary results. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 1982;4:33-47.
- 159. Hofmann SG, Sawyer AT, Witt AA, Oh D. The effect of mindfulness-based therapy on anxiety and depression: A meta-analytic review. J Consult Clin Psychol. 2010;78:169-83.
- 160. Chiesa A, Malinowski P. Mindfulness-based approaches: are they all the same? J Clin Psychol. 2011;67:404-24.
- 161. Baer RA, Smith GT, Lykins E, Button D, Krietemeyer J, Sauer S, et al. Construct validity of the five facet mindfulness questionnaire in meditating and nonmeditating samples. Assessment. 2008;15:329-42.
- 162. Wegner DM. Ironic processes of mental control. Psychol Rev. 1994;101:34-52.
- 163. Broderick P. Mindfulness and Coping with Dysphoric Mood: Contrasts with Rumination and Distraction. Cognit Ther Res. 2005;29:501-10-10.

- 164. Arch JJ, Craske MG. Mechanisms of mindfulness: emotion regulation following a focused breathing induction. Behav Res Ther. 2006;44:1849-58.
- 165. Levitt JT, Brown TA, Orsillo SM, Barlow DH. The effects of acceptance versus suppression of emotion on subjective and psychophysiological response to carbon dioxide challenge in patients with panic disorder. Behav Ther. 2004;35:747-66.
- 166. Eifert GH, Heffner M. The effects of acceptance versus control contexts on avoidance of panic-related symptoms. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry. 2003;34:293-312.
- 167. Cioffi D. Beyond attentional strategies: cognitive-perceptual model of somatic interpretation. Psychol Bull. 1991;109:25-41.
- 168. LeDoux JE. Emotion: clues from the brain. Annu Rev Psychol. 1995;46:209-35.
- 169. Hariri AR, Bookheimer SY, Mazziotta JC. Modulating emotional responses: effects of a neocortical network on the limbic system. Neuroreport. 2000;11:43-8.
- 170. Lieberman MD, Eisenberger NI, Crockett MJ, Tom SM, Pfeifer JH, Way BM. Putting feelings into words: affect labeling disrupts amygdala activity in response to affective stimuli. Psychol Sci. 2007;18:421-8.
- 171. Tabibnia G, Lieberman MD, Craske MG. The lasting effect of words on feelings: words may facilitate exposure effects to threatening images. Emotion. 2008;8:307-17.
- 172. Farmer RF, Chapman AL. Behavioral interventions in cognitive behavior therapy: practical guidance for putting theory into action. 1st ed. Washington DC: American Psychological Association; 2008.
- 173. Barlow D, Allen L, Choate M. Toward a unified treatment for emotional disorders. Behav Ther. 2004;35:205-30.
- 174. Hayes SC, Villatte M, Levin M, Hildebrandt M. Open, aware, and active: contextual approaches as an emerging trend in the behavioral and cognitive therapies. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. 2011;7:141-68.
- 175. Craske MG, Kircanski K, Zelikowsky M, Mystkowski J, Chowdhury N, Baker A. Optimizing inhibitory learning during exposure therapy. Behav Res Ther. 2008;46:5-27.
- 176. Hunt MG, Moshier S, Milonova M. Brief cognitive-behavioral internet therapy for irritable bowel syndrome. Behav Res Ther. 2009;47:797-802.
- 177. Andersson G, Bergström J, Buhrman M, Carlbring P, Holländare F, Kaldo V, et al. Development of a New Approach to Guided Self-Help via the Internet: The Swedish Experience. J Tech Hum Serv. 2008;26:161 81.
- 178. Palmqvist B, Carlbring P, Andersson G. Internet-delivered treatments with or without therapist input: does the therapist factor have implications for efficacy and cost? Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res. 2007;7:291-7.
- 179. Spek V, Cuijpers P, Nyklicek I, Riper H, Keyzer J, Pop V. Internet-based cognitive behaviour therapy for symptoms of depression and anxiety: a meta-analysis. Psychol Med. 2007;37:319-28.
- 180. Ström L, Pettersson R, Andersson G. A controlled trial of self-help treatment of recurrent headache conducted via the Internet. J Consult Clin Psychol. 2000;68:722-7.
- 181. Cuijpers P, van Straten A, Andersson G. Internet-administered cognitive behavior therapy for health problems: a systematic review. J Behav Med. 2008;31:169-77.
- 182. Andersson G. Using the Internet to provide cognitive behaviour therapy. Behav Res Ther. 2009;47:175-80.
- 183. Hedman E, Andersson G, Andersson E, Ljotsson B, Ruck C, Asmundson GJ, et al. Internet-based cognitive-behavioural therapy for severe health anxiety: randomised controlled trial. Br J Psychiatry. 2011;198:230-6.

- 184. Bergström J, Andersson G, Ljótsson B, Rück C, Andréewitch S, Karlsson A, et al. Internet- versus group-administered cognitive behaviour therapy for panic disorder in a psychiatric setting: a randomised trial. BMC Psychiatry. 2010;10:54.
- 185. Hedman E, Andersson G, Ljotsson B, Andersson E, Ruck C, Mortberg E, et al. Internet-Based Cognitive Behavior Therapy vs. Cognitive Behavioral Group Therapy for Social Anxiety Disorder: A Randomized Controlled Non-inferiority Trial. PLoS ONE. 2011;6:e18001.
- 186. Ritter P, Lorig K, Laurent D, Matthews K. Internet versus mailed questionnaires: a randomized comparison. J Med Internet Res. 2004;6:e29.
- 187. Blanchard EB. Irritable bowel syndrome: Psychosocial assessment and treatment. Washington DC: American Psychological Association; 2001.
- 188. Irvine EJ, Whitehead WE, Chey WD, Matsueda K, Shaw M, Talley NJ, et al. Design of treatment trials for functional gastrointestinal disorders. Gastroenterology. 2006;130:1538-51.
- 189. Wiklund IK, Fullerton S, Hawkey CJ, Jones RH, Longstreth GF, Mayer EA, et al. An irritable bowel syndrome-specific symptom questionnaire: development and validation. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2003;38:947-54.
- 190. Guilera M, Balboa A, Mearin F. Bowel habit subtypes and temporal patterns in irritable bowel syndrome: systematic review. Am J Gastroenterol. 2005;100:1174-84.
- 191. Mangel AW, Hahn BA, Heath AT, Northcutt AR, Kong S, Dukes GE, et al. Adequate relief as an endpoint in clinical trials in irritable bowel syndrome. J Int Med Res. 1998;26:76-81.
- 192. Patrick DL, Drossman DA, Frederick IO, DiCesare J, Puder KL. Quality of life in persons with irritable bowel syndrome: development and validation of a new measure. Dig Dis Sci. 1998;43:400-11.
- 193. Toner BB, Stuckless N, Ali A, Downie F, Emmott S, Akman D. The development of a cognitive scale for functional bowel disorders. Psychosom Med. 1998;60:492-7.
- 194. Svanborg P, Åsberg M. A new self-rating scale for depression and anxiety states based on the Comprehensive Psychopathological Rating Scale. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 1994;89:21-8.
- 195. Sheehan DV. The Sheehan Disability Scales. The Anxiety Disease and How to Overcome It. New York: Charles Scribner and Sons; 1983. p. 151.
- 196. Cohen S, Williamsson G. Perceived stress in a probability sample of the United States. In: Spacaban S, Oskamp S, editors. The social psychology of health: Claremont Symposium on applied social psychology. Newbury Park: Sage; 1988. p. 31-67.
- 197. Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 1983;67:361-70.
- 198. Sheehan DV, Lecrubier Y, Sheehan KH, Amorim P, Janavs J, Weiller E, et al. The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (M.I.N.I.): the development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. J Clin Psychiatry. 1998;59 Suppl 20:22-33.
- 199. Guy W. Clinical Global Impressions. ECDEU Manual, US Dept of Health and Human Services. Rockville: NIMH; 1976. p. 217-22.
- 200. Borkovec TD, Nau SD. Credibility of analogue therapy rationales. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry. 1972;3:257-60.
- 201. Tracey TJ, Kokotovic AM. Factor Structure of the Working Alliance Inventory. Psychol Assess. 1989;1:207-10.

- 202. Blanchard EB. A Critical Review of Cognitive, Behavioral, and Cognitive-Behavioral Therapies for Irritable Bowel Syndrome. J Cognit Psychother. 2005;19:101-23.
- 203. Verbeke G, Molenberghs G. Linear mixed models for longitudinal data. New York: Springer; 2000.
- 204. Gueorguieva R, Krystal JH. Move over ANOVA: progress in analyzing repeated-measures data and its reflection in papers published in the Archives of General Psychiatry. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2004;61:310-7.
- 205. Safer DL, Hugo EM. Designing a control for a behavioral group therapy. Behav Ther. 2006;37:120-30.
- 206. Andersson E, Ljotsson B, Smit F, Paxling B, Hedman E, Lindefors N, et al. Cost-effectiveness of internet-based cognitive behavior therapy for Irritable Bowel Syndrome: Results from a randomized controlled trial. BMC Public Health. 2011;11:215.
- 207. Hasler WL. Traditional thoughts on the pathophysiology of irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterol Clin North Am. 2011;40:21-43.
- 208. Grover M, Drossman DA. Centrally acting therapies for irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterol Clin North Am. 2011;40:183-206.
- 209. Hayes SC, Strosahl K, Wilson KG. Acceptance and commitment therapy: an experiential approach to behavior change. New York: Guilford Press; 1999.
- 210. Ablon JS, Jones EE. Validity of controlled clinical trials of psychotherapy: findings from the NIMH Treatment of Depression Collaborative Research Program. The American journal of psychiatry. 2002;159:775-83.
- 211. OECD. Education at a Glance 2010. Paris: OECD Publishing; 2010.
- 212. Hungin AP, Whorwell PJ, Tack J, Mearin F. The prevalence, patterns and impact of irritable bowel syndrome: an international survey of 40,000 subjects. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2003;17:643-50.
- 213. Vandvik PO, Aabakken L, Farup PG. Diagnosing irritable bowel syndrome: poor agreement between general practitioners and the Rome II criteria. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2004;39:448-53.
- 214. Rubin G, Wit ND, Meineche-Schmidt V, Seifert B, Hall N, Hungin P. The diagnosis of IBS in primary care: consensus development using nominal group technique. Fam Pract. 2006;23:687-92.